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ATTEMPT TO FORM HREPRESENTATIVE BODY
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the slightest evidence of initiative on the part of the colony,
Finally the administration "prepared to assume the responsibility

for proposing definite plans to bring about the organigzation of
the Hepresentative Committee and the establishment of harmonious
and practical working relationships with it as the recognized

and official spokesman of the residents." It was a curious

reversal of the November situation, In November, the Administra-

tion had exerted itself to the utmost to inhibit and slow down
the development of a representative body. Six months later,
when it stood ready to welcome one with open arms, there was

no response, wn May 8 another explanation and plan was printed

in a special edition of the Newell Star. Dillon Myer's instructions

were reprinted. The article states: "There has been no sub-
stantial response to the adminlstration's invitation to proceed
with the formation of the Hepresentative Vommittee. Therefore,
in a spirit of helpfulness and cooperation, the administration
1s prepared to assume the responsibillity for proposing definite
plans to bring about the organization of the Representative -
Committee,"

It was announced that elections would take place in each
block on May 22 to select two Block Lelegates who would form a
Ward Council. The Ward Council would meet on the 25 and select
the arrangements Committee, which was to make the preliminary
pPlans for the election of the permanent flepresentative Body,

Elaborate plans were outlined to prepare for the election
of May 22. The Block Managers were instructed to make frequent
announcements and post notices for bloclk meetings to be held
lMay 18 at which time nominations for the proposed Block Lelegates

were to be made and a Block Election Board selected, The duties




of the Block LElection Board and the Ward Delegates were described
in detall.

Fear that agltators might be elected to office was still
felt by many of the members of the administration., This fear
had haunted the administration for many months and probably
delayed the preparations for the formation of a reproseﬁtgtive
body during the months that the Co-ordinating Committee was
atriving to extricate itself from its unwelcome duties. At
the last meeting of the Co-ordinating Committee Mr, Huycke had
sald, in reference to the election of a new body: "In some

locks they're going to try to put up Daithyo Sha Kai members,"
by which he meant that the status quo group would attempt to

nominate "

agltators." MNr. Provinse, who sat in on this meeting,

remarked, "What 1f they do?"l It is said that Mpr, Provinse exerted
b @

a considerable influence on those members of the personnel obsessed
with the fear of agitators, among whom could be numbered most
of the high ranking member of the staff,

ATTITUIES OF THE RESILENTS BEFORe THE ELECTION

However, instead of planning to obtaln places on the body,

the leaders of the underground pressure groups were putting all
their efforts into an attempt to make the election an utter failure.
In this they received the active or passive support of most of

the colonists.

"K", while believing that a body ought to be formed,
polnted out that any one who accepted a place on it stood in
great danger of being branded an inu. The knife edged path
of reslsting the administration sufficiently to gain the respect

and confidence of the people and co-operating sufficiently to
il

iblid., May 17, 1944, p. 2.




keep from being thrown into the stockade could be travelled

in safety only by an extremely able individual, And such 1indi-
viduals were not interested in the office. "K" was also the
only informant frank and well informed enough to hint, albeit
cautlously, at the exlstence of pressure groups working against
the election.

"I know only a little about it., I'm not sure, but I'm
afraid this thing is goling to cause a 1ittle trouble, There is
a party opposing it. The one who is opposing it, not because
he knows anything about it, but because he merely took a dislike
to it. He has some sort of false impression. He may try to
cause a little trouble,

"People are not very enthusiastic about it. But I think
that a body ought to be formed to try to co-operate with the
administration and set things rolling harmoniously. You'll
find the 1ssei wlll try to co-operate with the administration
whether they like it or not. The nisei will fall in with them
too. 350 eventually they are all going to be called inu,

"It would be best if the body stood up and spoke for the
rights of the Japanese, even 1f they are thrown into the stockade.
Then they'll be idolized. DBut if he falls into line, he's
going to be called a stooge no matter what he does,

Dest must recognlze the opposition. If the people
have the guts to stand up, 0.K. But if mostly
lected they will swallow and swallow and just get

sed.

e
L
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P
K, a Hawailan nisel, 50 years old, has a curious pre judice
agalnst the 1ssel, whom he, in general, views as meek individuals
who will agree with the administration on any issue, against
their better judgment,
"You're not golng to find any respectable, well-educated
Japanese willing to attempt that position., You'll get a body

n - . 1]
of people who before evacuation were just nobody,"l

Nakao, a block manager and former Laihyo Sha supporter also

expressed the opinion that the election of the proposed body

would be very difficult. He, like many individuals of his

P : .
H. Hankey, Notes, May 14, 1944, p. 2,




conviction, stressed the importance of the group still interned
in the stockade. He also did not believe that the Administra-
tion would permit the election of any man on their "black 1ist."

"They're golng ahead with this Representative Committee,
but 1 personally would really like to see the people in the
stockade toc be released. In my opinion getting new delegates
for the Hepresentative Committee will be pretty tough to
operate. People say, "What's the use? e put up representa-
tives once agaln and they wouldn't recognize them."

"I don't know, You really don't hear people talk about
it much, They're just sick of 1t. Some of the daha people,
(those agalnst status quo) they're talking about it., As far
as I'm concerned I don't care if they do it or not, as long as
they take care of sanitation and family employment. . . .

“In the election we'll have to take down the names of the
persons and send them intc the project director's office. If
the person 1s on the black 1ist, I know the administration will
not O0,K., it,

“As block managers we are not to stick our nose into any
political affairs. So we are just going to act as chairmen
until they get a chairman,"l

Miss ianaka, although strongly anti-status quo, did not
think the electlon could succeed since so many people were
unwllling to elect another body while the stockade matter was
still unsettled;

"It doesn't seem as 1f this representative body ought to

go Through. I hear so many people say as long as they are
obligated to the Daihyo Sha they will refuse to vote until

s

they 're relsased,"2

1

Yamaguchi, an ex-Leupp internee assumed an attitude of

extreme indifferences;
"I have no idea about 1t. They've asked me to be one of
the representatives, but I won't., I'm not going to be in any

politlcal organization. . . .

"Tonlght every block is going to have a meeting, I'm
golng to play baseball, and have a lot of fun. . .

.

' e 0—4.

.
+ibid., Maky 15, 1944,
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“The people feel pretty bad.,  If you do good for the
people you get put 1In the stockade. If you do good for WRA
jau get called inu. So I'm going to play baseball."l

Fujimoto took a view which was probably very common among
these 1ndivlidusls with no passionate political convictions. The
representatives were not really needed., Why elect a body which
might plunge the camp into more trouble? The many evacuees
who held this view consciously or unconsciously aided the pres-
sure groups who were doing their utmost to bring about the

failure of the election.

“Nobody cares a thing about having a representative govern-
ment, So far as can see, nobody 1is golng to break their neck
trying to work up a few representatives for the block, ‘Yhey
just don't care. Things are going along pretty good, so leave
well enough alone.

“lile haven't any  representatives now, just a ward representa-
tive. But he's always been in existence. I don't see any call
for them (representatives) at all,

"My 1ldea is this: If there's a representative from each
ward that's eight people. Then, if any problem or complaint
ls iImportant enough to merit bringing before the attention of
the hlgher-ups, whoever was interested enough to do so could
look up the ward representatives and present his case. But
if there 1s a representative in every block it would be a
simple matter to bring up minor items and cause confusion., I
think they should leave it that way and save a lot of trouble
listening to minor complaints. Things will smooth themselves
out., I think having a representative in each block makes it
too damn easy for anybody to put up silly complaints,"2

Lr. Opler said that several of his informants had expressed
the fear that hot heads would gain office and attempt to dominate

the boZdy. They would then cause trouble by insisting that

% 1 3 . e - Z
demands be made with which the administration could not comply.®

This attitude, quite similar to Fujimoto'q was probably held by
J—M\I‘ §
many/\m. It is, moreover, the kind of statement

. libid., mMay 18, 1¢
“ibid., May 13, 1944,
“ibid., p. 2., 1944,
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which a Japanese would be likely to make
administration, feeling that it might not be entirely
put emphasis on popular sentiment toward the stockade
or on general hostility to any proposal put forward Dy
administration.
Mr. Robertson's informants, on the other hand,
importance of the st ide 1ss ; 1s also interesting that
Robertson, on thls oOcC o) made the most accurate predilc-
tion of any person on the project, Japanese or Caucasian, ©Siad
he, "I think the results 'of this election are going to be
appalling."

~Q

RESULTS OF NOMAINATION MpTINGS

The results of the meetings
lay iﬁ} were not publicized by the administration.
data avallable was given to Dr. Opler by the Civic Organizations,
which compiled the results. At the time Opler stated that this
report was preliminary and not accurate., However, nothin
better was ever released,
15 blocks nominated representatives
44 blocks no quorum, i.,e., no meeting

5
9' blocks no attempt made to hold meet
blocks delezates nominated, i

n

10 representatives
ng
et

%
jected by block=<

Since these results were presented by the Civic Organizations,
a body which would be inclined to co-operate with the administra-
tion, there 1is little likellhood that the failure of the meetings
is exaggerated in any Y. There is, therefore, no doubt that only

207 of the blocks in the center, responded to the suggestion of

the administration.

livid., May 19, 1944, p. 1.
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Accounts of Meetings

Jome very lnteresting accounts of what transpired in the
various blocks were given by informants.
Yamaguchl sailds

"I didn't go to the meeting. Eighty-two people were needed
for a quorum and only 75 showed up. "hen the anti-status quo
people went around to get people to come., I went and I was
nomlnated. 1 absolutely refused the nomination, I don't intend
to engage 1n no polities, Things drageged along and about ten
people left. 1hey refused to let me decline the nomination.
Then 1 sald that there was no quorum any more, so the nomination
was not valid., After a lot more talk the meetinc ended. Nobody
was nominated.

"Mr, Takghashi worked very hard to get people out and did
best to get nomlinations.

When asked if this would not make Mr.

in his block (block 68) Yamaguchi replied,

is going to die soon ;mywu‘;."l

"K", who lives in block 7 stated:

"I didn't attend the meeting, I was home and they came

for me. But I refused to attend. I heard they had only twenty
people attending. They seem to have appointed me and another
gentleman next door, bBut 1 flatly refused to accept the nomina-
tion. HRegardless of what Mr., Best may say, I will absolutely

1o

refuse to serve."?2

Okamoto, block manager of 59, a very pro-status gquo block,

.

did his best to comply with the administrative instructions.
e failed,

“I had a meeting. Only 25 or 26 people attended, So I just
told them the meeting was adjourned. As you know, the block
managers can't stick their nose in politics, so I must be neutral,
<+ did my best but the people feel that way.ﬁ'

A young married woman living in block 20, a notoriously

1]

“"tough” Dblock, said that the people in her block had had a

Mey 22, 1944,
May 21, 1944,
25, 1944,




meeting but they had

asked how the nominations
srile, "Nobody was nominated,"
"Uf course, this is Heverend Kai's block,"
ur, Opler collected the accounts of meetings:

"I heard that block 73 had a long argument., The block

manager arrived and was a
in this, He sald he had
I

ccused of belng an inu, for helping

a fight (verbal, it seems) with the
worst radical" in the block. He added tdat there were others
“too radical to listen." Anywa; » the group couldn't be handled,
'hers were no nominees."

"

“
.

In block 9 there were no nominees

"In block 69 they p presentatives; but they also
had an argument. Apparently 1t was in the blocks which had no
nominees they had the w arguments,"”

29 things went 0K, There
One nour wait before peopl
trual. they had to go around in the z
in. In block 16 an anti-status quo man saild, "We had to
them 0}@ of bed to get nominees.' Block 16 1is very pro-
"3

s ok
18 quoO.

COLONISTS' Ru ACTIONS T0 FAILURE OF Ll CTION: E XPLANATIONS

the resounding failure of the nomination meetings,

obvious that many colonists, whether they were
supporters or not, reacted with uncon
e week following, when the sul was
ormal gatherings, those present vied with each
O the degree of lack of co-operation in
ers of persons who attended the
with lower attendance

however, would have to glve way

may 22 3 1944 »
lay 2 Q44
May 2 }, lull’

1944, p. 6.
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From their po'nt of view the administration had failed to replace

the Negotiating Committee wimi ohrymsny agnxdsdxasnonenf nt e hx b

e nx exh x ms o me torxed mi oX ex e rovdmenodds whioh nag regarded as

proof that the oamp had not returned to a normal condition. So

long as this $am unse'tled condition prevailed, the presaure group
be 1ieved

kadnkopasnghagx »nnidpknos Jthet the Washington authorities would

listen to their appeels for resepgrcgetion.




any person were present from a block where no meeting at all

had been held.

/f This attitude was not unanimous. FYersons with strong status

C f quo sympathies were disappointed. Byron Akltsuki's sister-in-law

f who came from block 29, where no nominations had been made, was
ashmotx‘i‘ww said she was
/ worried about the situation. She did not want the men released
from the stockade,u "Fr-treweii—ienownyl-eatd-she;"“thHuat the

agitators—had been-plotting-trouble in Tule Lake even on the
rein coming from Jerome: % bk;,MJ,;Z\vy& .

Members of the pressure groups were elated.¢:"This is a

ne said Mr., Q. an undemonstrative

great victory for the residents.
individual.

Explanations

"K", who had never expressed himself as for or against
the status quo gave a very interesting explanation of the fallure,
Significantly, he stressed that this failure put the status quo
election of January 15, 1944 into its true perspective. The
ma jority of the people, sald he, had never wlished to give way
to the administration and break the status quo.

"People are taking the attitude, why should they make a
committee when they (administration and Army) refused to recog-
nize them in the first place. I1If the administration had recog-
nized the boys at that time (November) they would have had
success at this time.

"The agitators will certainly claim the credit for this,

"As you know, the Japanese people are, I would say, stubborn,

Once they bear a grudge, they very seldom forget. Mr. Best has
lost the confidence of the people at that time,

libi4., May 22, 1944, p. 2.
21bid., May 21, 1944, p. 4.




"Phe first status quo proved the situation at that time.
The difference was so small, That proved that the residents
were against the administration, If they had been in favor of
the administration, the vote at that time would have been over-

whelming."

Yamaguchi, who had previously expressed himself as against
the release of some of the men 1n the stockade now swung definitely
to the opinion that they should be let out, Hia statement that
the people had re jected the election,

Kal and Xuratomi, but because they felt WRA had not treated the
people falrly, was corroborated by many int igent colonists,

"If Kal and Kuratoml are released, then maybe they'll have
a Negotiating Committee. The Army and WRA made a promise to

the Dalhyo sSha Kai that they wouldn't arrest any of them, But
they dld.

"It was unfair to put the representatives in the stockads,
It was a dirty deal. That's really what the people feel. Eighty
percent of the camp feecls thls way, not because they support Kai
and Kuratoml but because they think WRA treated them bad.

QAJC"-“L
B '3/\‘-“:1121' some bDlocks nominated curﬂidnte%

i ‘Iax:;a;pxcl:l,\\w ) (,,,(,.r,_,;a.»& % 4 vr@))

"In any block there are "‘-"{o); ing kidel and nise!l who have
no place in socisl organizationg but t.ey vant te get a name
somehow and that's maybe why they were cs ,_.Ln’; tea, Alaso there
«z,ay be a few blocks who are ‘ra--—admlr;istration.

"I think 1f it were ,aut in tne Newell otar that My, Best

3 ; ¥ 4
WES \_‘J.L.;Q to resign and that ti ey were going to take the fence

down, then 1 think 1t's going to be. peacei‘ul here,

"My, Best asked me individually whether the elsction will

be successaful or not. I told him give we a Job instead. He
said, woll as _soon as Mr, Black came back he's golng to have
the ele 1’;11.

t,n

ar, "F", an lssel, sald:

"When the people came into camp they were confused. They
e still confused. 7The reason they are rcsfusing to support
proposal 1s that the old matter (the men in the stockade)

Pie 5‘6.
May 23, 1944, pp, 2-3,




1s not settled. If they were all let out, the election would
be proceding in an entirely different manner. No intelligent
able man would accept the nomination. I certainly wouldn't,

He also expressed his low opinion of Mr, Best:

"At Leupp Mr., Best used the outer entrance at all times
and came inside the stockade as little as possible. Mr, Robert-
son always left by the exit which took him through camp, asking
i1f he could get the boxs some thing. This shows he (Robertson)
has a Christian heart."l

The opinion of Mr, Abe a segregee from Manzanar who did
not arrive in camp until late February of 1944 is interesting.
Abe is an issel and strongly agaim t "radicals" and trouble
making." When asked why the election had failed, he said:

"That's very simple. . .The first (representatives) we sent
out - they were all put in the stockade. They (the administration)
were denouncing them that they were not representative of camp
opinion. So they sent out the next om (Second Negotiating
Committee). Then, negotiations were going on. Then the adminis-
tration say, 'You don't represent camp opinion either.' They
sent them to the stockade (too). Then there were no representa-
tives, . « « +» &

Then. . .the administration formally requested the camp
people to elect representatives. Lkverybody's opinion was,
'What's the use? Lvery time we send a representative they are
arrested. If we make more representatives, they will only put
more people in the stockade.' Everybody said, 'What the heck!

We don't want to send anymore people to the stockade,'"2

The Okamoto¥s, conservative segregees who arrived in camp
in October, exhibited the same change of opinion that Yamaguchi
did, i.e., the only way to bring peace to the camp was to bring
the stockade matter to a satisfactory conclusion. Okamoto also
added some interesting current opinions on the activities of the
ex-Co~-ordinating Committee.

"In my opinion the reason it didn't come out successfully
1s because some of the people in the center feel that unless the
men in the stockade are released, they will continue to back

the Daihyo Sha Kai because the men in the stockade are our
representatives,

libig., May 20, 1944, p. 1.

®1bid., July 27, 1944, pp. 3-4.
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"I told you the last time it was better to have a good
strong organization. But the way the people feel right now I
think 1t's better to release the men from the stockade. I feel
pretty strong that way. . . .

"Another thing, the Co-ordinating Committee was organized
for the purpose of releasing the men and bring the center back
to normalcy. But right now, it is in better condition than it
was three months ago. The camp seems normal now, but as long as
the men are in the stockade people will feel that it is not a
normal condition.

"Some of the people say that the Co-ordinating Committee
didn't finish their work. They made a statement in the paper
that they had completed their work but more than 50 persons are
still in there (the stockade). Some of the i1ssei were sent to
the internment camp, which made the group mad., . . .

"Unless WRA releases the men in the stockade there is no
necessity to organize another committee. If the men are sent to
Leupp there is no hope at all to organize another committee., The
majority of the people are just watching the administration to
see what they do.

"Besides people hesitate_to be block delegates. They may go
to the stockade if they are."l

Two Tuleans, both issel, stressed the unpopularity of Mr.
Best and the conviction that unless men in the stockade were
given a fair hearing, no new representative body would ever be
elected.

"I think that Mr, Best and the people in the center don't
see eye to eye on almost everything. Anything he (Best, pro-
poses, won't get through. As you know, there are 14 people in
the stockade at present (this statement was made August 14).
There has been no definite verdict given. There has been no
hearing.

"So until we know definitely how things stand, you know
1t's impossible to elect another committee., That's why, as they
say, agything My, Best would say in that sense, it won't hold
true."

Two nisei girls, old residents of Tule, stressed the fear

with which a potential representative regarded the position:

liv1a., May 23, 1944, p. 4.
2i1bid., Aug. 14, 1944, p. 2.
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"They were scared because everybody was getting beaten up;i/
(bhe-—outbreak of beatings oceurred after the-elestien). They
thought the best thing to do was to sit quiet and take what
they (administration) dish out. You're always in constant fear
if you take that job."l

This 1ist of attitudes will be closed with the analysis of
Mr, Yamashita an ex-Santa Fe internee and a strong supporter of
the pressure groups:

"It is the Japanese way of taking the responsibility. Any
responsible person has to resign his position, It shows that
the majority of the residents as a whole have no confidence in
the administration. It's as if the president of the United
States gave an order which was not obeyed by the people. He'd
no longer be president.

"Much of it is due to the people still in the stockade.
They are taking too much time for settling this little business
in the stockade. Mr. Best every day 1s taking valuable time
with the chief consideration of keeping their (administration's)
face. They have to spend so much time on the stockade that they

are disregarding other things such as watering the rosds ard
improving the mess halls."2

Analysis

Comparing the statements made before and after the fallure
of the nominations, the most striking phenomenon is the change
in emphasis on the importance of the stockade issue. Three
good informants, who had never before stressed wholesale

release, now advocated 1t as the only possible method of clear-

ing up the misunderstanding between the administration and the ij‘
N

people . The dominant sdﬁ%ihant“iﬁ‘camp from May 19 to May 24 r

—————

was a feelipg of triumph and régained self-respeect. "We showad' :g
them," was/the theme underlying most of the statements, It is ;
impossib to say whicggd’ the three mospférequently q;bfessed
reasons/ for the failyf; of the nominayrgns was mosgfiﬁportants

a senﬁ{ment of obligation to the man‘in the stogkﬁda; the

libid., Aug. 17, 1944, p. 4.
21bid., May 21, 1944, p. 4.
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14A
This conviction was now well established and oontinued so, Residents
who had 1ittle respect for the Iwsgt Negotisting Committese or even
on1led them “agitators" mexm expr.ssed the opinion that their ocontinued

impr isonment would be an error.

The dominant sentiment in cemp from May 19 to Mey 24 was a feeline

of triumph and regained self -respect, "We showed them," was the theme
under lying most of the stetements. IAtxdsnimpozaibiexss xhddx hense
of ik i mf a0 kwwwrW bt ok mg @PkR dkwmka®  The three most signifioant Pactors

which oontributed to the failure of thes nomimtions were : a sentiment

of obligation to the men in the stookade; the




conviction that 1t would be impossible to serve as a representa-

. tive without getting into trouble either with the administratlon
or the people; a general disinclination to co-operate with the
unpopular administration and Mr. Best in any way whatever. As
has been shown, most informants shared all three. Vrdoubteédly,
the. pressure—groups FeTttHEt the-first-and—third were most
saldent, aseddemt, Fear or disinclination to be called an inu amd
dislike for Mr. Best were strong enough to swing the conservative
people against the proposition. The arguments which took place
in certain blocks and the attempts of certaln individuals to go
about the block "and compel the people to come in," sow that
the administration was not without it's supporters, However,
these individuals were completely overwhelmed and risked great
unpopularity and danger by thelir actions.

The//riasco had one noticeable effect on the pnialic mind:
the c9£v1ction that the state of non-cooperatign"betweon the
a ¢ stration and the péople could be resolved only by releas-
ing the stockade internees was now well established and continued
so. It should be roted that some of the segregees who lmd 1little

/
'/ respect for the Negotiatl ng Com/&f,tae and even the 014 Tuleans

were convihced that their continued mpriqoﬁment would be an

who might call them agitat?{ upstarts and Communists still i
rd ‘\

o P A~ A )

‘L\error.,' Moreover, althoughVﬂ was seldom verbalized, not.
— h A R Tt TAs At ﬁa
appearing for meetings waefxenceforth adopted jas a simpgg’;'d

/
safe method of putting the administration in its place.V The
continuation of this pattemwill be taken up in its prop‘ey
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REACTION OF ADMINISTRATION

Mr, Best is sald to have taken the matter calmly and
philosophically.
On May 25th the following statement appeared in the

Newell Star:

FORMATION OF REPRESENTATIVE BODY POSTPONED STATES BEST

Flans for the formation of the Representative Committee,
a permanent intermediary body which was granted approval by the
WRA, have been postponed for an indefinite period of time,
announced Ray R, Best, project director. The block meetings,
which were held Thursday evening to nominate candidates for the
block delegates' election as the first step toward formation
of the permanent body, did not show sufficient respons from
the residents.

"The failure of a large number of blocks to hold their meet-
Ings and select their nominees serves to defeat the purpose of
the organization plan, and indicates that there is not enough
popular sentiment in favor of the formation of the Representative
Committee to warrant a continued effort to carry out the election
at the present time," stated the project director.

He lauded the earnest effort made by the residents of many
blocks to launch community representation in accordance with
the outlined plan; and stated, "It 1s obvious that unless
the residents are virtually unanimous in their participation
in the selection of the Representative Committee, then the
committee cannot be truly representative."

In conclusion he expressed the belief that the formation
of the representative body should be postponed until a more
favorable date "in fairness to the entire community."

WRA TAKES OVER STOCKAIE

On May 25 it was announced in the Newell Star, that WRA had

taken over complete charge of the stockade. Nothing is known
at present on the reasons Washington or the local administration
had for doing this.
WRA IN COMPLETE CHARGE OF STOCKADX AIMINISTRATION
The WRA is now in complete charge of the administration
of the segregated area within the center, it was announced by

Project Director Hay R. Best on Wednesday. This area which
has been commonly termed the "stockade" had been established




S A ls

On May 26 it was announced in the Newell Star that

WRA TAKES OVERSTOCKADE

WRA had taken over complete charge of the stockade, DNothing

ig known at present on the reasons Washington or the local

administrati 'n had for doing this.

WRA IN COMPLETE CHARGE OF STOCKADE ADMINISTRATION

The WRA is now in compléé charge of the administration

pf the segregated area within the center, it was announced
by Pro jeect Director Ray R. Best on Wednesday. This area
which has been commonly ternmed the"stoeckande"™ has been
established
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by the Army authorities and administered by the Army prior to
this time. As stated in the NEWELL STAR last week, releases

have been made from the area to the residence section of the

center by a WRA committee working with Army officials.

The administration of the segregated area by the WRA
as announced by the project director means that complete super-
vision will be in the hands of the project officials. This
will include mess operation and arrangements for redical and
other necessary services.

Fifteen of the internees requested legal consul at this
time.l Getting assistance in this matter took some time. The
internees' relatives were, for the most part, quite ignorant of
legal matters and did not know to whom to turn. Consulting the
project attorney, they felt was out of the question.2 K. expressed
the following opinion of the stockade situation:

"I hear that Kail is going to be released. But 1f they let
Kal go they must let the rest go. If they did that 1t would
create a much more happy atmosphere."

PERIOD OF QUIET - MID-APRIL TO MAi 24.

From the date on which the resignation of the Co-ordinating
Committee was announced, the general camp attitude was marked
by a gradual but unmistakable lessening of tension. There was
also a marked change in administrative policy. The food improved
remarkably and Mr, Best made several efforts to improve his
relationships with the people. Although little actual optimism
was volced by the colonists, the statements of many informants
showed overtones of relief. A few of the least pessimistic
said, "Now Tule Lake is going to become just like the other
centers." Hostile rumor and gossip about the lnu lessened.
Toward the end of May, some people even complained of being

bored.

1ibi4., May 23, 1944, p. 1.
28&9 PP. For detalled account,
SR. Hankey, Notes, May 21, 1944, p. 6,




A considerable number of disturbing new factors such as
the reception of draft notices, and the persistance of some
of the old grievanceskept minor disturbing currents in motion,
but on the whole, the camp progressed toward a semblance of a
peaceful community.
STATE MLNTS OF INFORMANTS

Some excellent expressions of this phenomenon were made in
early May. It i1s interesting that two of these statements include
an appreciation of the improvement in food.

K. sald:

"Things have changed a great deal., Mr, Robertson himself
is feeling very much relieved. I heard Mr. Provinse had a great
deal to do in influencing Mr, Best to change his mind and take
advice from the_right party (b, rignt parivy Mr, K probably means
Mr, Robertson).l I hope Best wi%l continue. Right now things
are simmering down pretty fast."

Nakao sald:

"Ever since you left there hasn't been much change. All
quiet on the western front. Things are going pretty good except
for the reduction of persons working in the family. . .

"I think the Japanese people as a whole made a big mistake
at the warehouse. (Nov. 4 incident). If then food had been
as it 1s now, it couldn't have happened. Now we have tofu, all
the Japanese food we want, plenty of rice and vegetables."3

Fujimoto saild:

"Inu hate has died down. Things are quieting down. People
are forgetting Akitsuki. He stays 1n the background. As long
as you don't keep floating something in front of peoples' faces,
they forget about 1it,

"There's no undercurrent of coming explosion. They (the
administration) ought to know better than that. The Jgp anese
don't work like that. When the Japanese get really started to
boil over, you don't see the warning signs,

"Besides the food has really improved. We have 48,000
pounds of cured ham sitting there in cold storage. In the coming
months we are going to average eight eggs per person per week,
That's an egs a day!

1Mr. Provinse visited the project in the latter part of April.
2R. Hankey, Notes, May 14, 1944, p. 1.
S1bid., May 15, 1944, pp. 2, 4.




"The food improvement is remarkable., Up until the end of
March all we ever had was corned beef, salt pork, and cabbage -
and then repeat it, DBesldes that all we had was welners, balony
and eggs., <There was very little other vegetable except cabbage.
But from the beginning of April, things have started to come in.
Now we get lettuce, spinach and asparagus. We still get frank-
furters and balony, but we also get beef and veal occasionally -
lamb and mutton more than beef though,

"Our only squawk is our difficulty in getting pork, 1 think
that's because the quartermaster refuses to send us pork because
we have a big hog farm here. And they'll only kill the damn
dogs when we're out of all other meat. We don't even get it once
a week.,

ALTERED ATTITULL OF THE ADMINISTRATION

Co-existent with this gradual lessening of tension, and
perhaps to some extent responsible for it was a deflinite change
in administration policy. Mr. Best, in Dr, Opler's words, "Was
putting himself out to be agreeable." he had proposed a half=-
holiday to allow the people to c elebrate the Emperor's birthday
which fell on a Saturday; he had ordered the big meal of the
week to be served on that day (the week's best meal is ordinarily
served on Sunday); he threw the first baseball at the game which
celebrated the occasion. He had also had the fence which
separated ward VII from the rest of the colony which resulted in
a surprising amount of happiness on the part of the colonists,
particularly those living in VII, Every informant visited in
that ward remarked, "The fence has been taken down. It certainly
makes us feel better," Another action which was commented on with
pleasure by many informants was that permission had been given
to take a group of school children outside the boundaries of the
fence to visit the pig farm. Many old people remarked, "It makes
even us feel better to know that the children got a chance to go

out for a while,"l

livid., May 13, 1944, pp. 1, 2.




Several changes in administrative attitude were observed at
the end of March and throughout April. There was a subtle but
very important relaxation in safe-guarding Caucagians in the
colony. Until the status quo was broken, any Caucasian entering
the colony was required to take with him an armed soldier or a
member of the Caucasian police force. In early February, even
male WRA personnel were still required to take a guard, except
the teachers, who went only to the school a few hundred yards of
the fence. 1In March this was no longer required of men; whether
it was required of women personnel members 1s not known. The
writer was obliged to take along a guard. Women personnel
members almost never went into the colony at this time. By
April, however, the restrictions which had been breaking down
gradually were greatly relaxed and all that was required to ensure
entrance into the colony was a pass f?qm the Police or from Mr.
Black. Caucasian women, however,«ézgfi;;a beyond the school area -
so seldom/that in the more distant sgctions of the folony the

as frequently pointed out an oddity by 1ittle children
who wopld shout “Ha¥§jin, Upasan, /or hakujin no sénsei." Very
young children wer flikoly to buyst into tears brought to say
“Hgiio," to the ggkujin. Even dogs seemed /to sense some

difference and would rush out Af the barracks/to bark until the

/ /
gtrange presence disappeared in the distance
/ /

Stockade Releases frocedure

The release of a large number of those men detained in the
stockade, may also have had an effect on calming resentment, By
May 13 only about 55 men were still confined.

The stockade situation was given the following publicity in
the Newell Star of May 18.




ADMINISTRATION RELEASES LATEST STOCKAIE FIGURES

"The number of people who have been confined in the stockade
area has declined steadily since the WRA set up its program of
reviewing evidence on which the men were detained,

The administration revealed, the total number of persons
detained in the stockade was 319, although there was never quite
- this number in the area at any one time. This was because some
arrests were made after others had been released,

The total number of men released from the stockade to date
is 264. Most of these people were returned to their homes in
the center residence area. A small number of aliens were trans-
ferred to the Lepartment of Justice.

The number of persons remaining in the area to date is 55,
Each case 1s reviewed by the administration's committee, and the
evidence made avallable from Army files and from the reports of
the FBI are carefully studies. Heleases have been made on the
recommendation of this committee, which works closely with the
Army officials.

Releases of from two to five persons are being made almost
daily."

However, the men left in the stockade were by no means
forgotten. "K" was still dissatisfied over the continued
incarceration of the three men from block 9, He also voiced
the suspicion that some people had been interned just to keep
the remainder of the people in a state of subjection,

"Three issei from block 9 were thrown into the stockade only
last month. They didn't raise no trouble but had been complaining
against people in that block regarding the distribution of gifts
sent from Japan. But they were thrown into the stockade and are
still there."l

On the subject of the block 9 difficulties, Dr. Opler was

of the opinion that the trouble was more serious than a mere

squabble over the distribution of the gifts:

"That block 9 is an old old squabble. Block 9 has a split
vote., It was a majority of anti-status quo with a strong minded
minority. After the vote was taken, people entered from the out-
side and swung it in the pro-status quo direction. Certain families
were criticized. There was mess hall discrimination and a fight
between two sets of mess hall crews.

libid,, May 14, 1944, p. 2.




"This criticism over gift distribution was only one of the
things. When last heard from, some anti-status quo people were
considering getting out of the block.

"There was a real threat of mess hall trouble, That's the
real reason they were put in the stockade,"l

Nakao's sentiments toward the internees had undergone no
change :

"As for the (boys in the) stockade - when I sign my name
for anything 1 want to _live up to it. We sald once they are our
true representatives,"

Even Miss Iwohara, ex-secretary to the Co-ordinating Committee
said:

“1 think they ought to release all of those out of the
stockade that have no charge against them, They're so slow.
There are many innocent ones in there,"

Re-opening of Leupp Abandoned

Although 1t was not definitely announced that Leupp was not
to be reopened for the incarceration of those of the internees
who were American citizens, the fact that no overt steps were
taken, contributed negatively to the quileter atmosphere. The
relatives of the 1nterned men, however, were still very anxious,
Ever since the unconfirmed report that the internees might be
sent to Leupp had appeared in an outside newspaper, a steady
stream of interested persons kept coming to the administration
building in an attempt to get some information.%

No informant not intimately connected with an internee,
expressed concern over the movement to Leupp. Nor did the ordi-
nary evacuee think that such a movement could provoke any demons-

tration from the people.

libia., May 17, 1944, p.-2.
®1bid., May 15, 1944, p. 4
Sibid., May 16, 1944, p. 2.
41bid., May 13, 1944, p. 7.




The first indication that any of the men interned were
considering the possibility of appealing to the courts of the
United States, appeared at this time. The first rumor was that
one of the boys in Leupp who had been kept in the stockade since
his arrival on December 6 was considering asking for legal aid.
This young man, however, was released in May 21 and took no
action,

DISTURBING FACTORS OF THIS PERIOD

Although a series of potentially disturbing events occurred
during this period and the employment cut began to make itself
felt, no appreciable resent or trouble resulted. The arrival of
approximately 1,700 new segregants from Jerome, Granada, Heart
Mountain and Minidoka and the sending of notices to young men
to appear for their Army physical examinations were the most
important of these occurrances,

Arrival of Additlonal Segregees

The estimated number of persons who entered camp at thils
time was given as 700 from Rohwer, 660 from Jerome, 140 from
Granada, 125 from Heart Mountain and 59 from Minidoka. No
organized effort on the part of the pressure groups to propa-
gandize these new arrivals came to the attentlon of the adminis-
tration. However the effort was almost certainly made. The
most serious problem with which the administration had to deal
was insufficient space. To meet this, the room allotted to each
individual in camp was cut to a minirmum of 80 square feet and a
maximum of 100 square feet. The intent ot make this reduction

was announced in the Newell Star long before the arrival of the

new segregees.l

lNewell Star, April 6, 1944.




Finding sufficient room for the influx of new segregees
was and remained one of the administration's major difficulties.
At this time Mr, Robertson stated that in his opinion it was
the most serious problem in camp.

While there was much muttering and grumbling over the
situation, resentment over crowding remained unorganized.
Fujimoto predicted trouble, but none occurred:

"I wonder what's going to happen when all the rest get here.
They've got Jjust three blocks and then the vacancies. I think
they're golng to try to squeeze in 2,000 people. When they
start putting them into Hec, Halls and start partitioning off,

I wonder what's going to happen,"l

"K" criticized the administration for its policy of bringing
the people in in small groups. Each time another group came in,
sald he, 1t caused a minor disturbance in camp:

"People coming in a little at a time 1like that will continue
to cause small trouble and unrest during the period of transition.
They're easily agitated and will fall in 1ine with the agitators.
What I'm looking forward to right now is that those who took the
leadership in camp in the last incident were from Rohwer and
Jerome, They are going to get a falr number of sympathizers
(frgg the new groups). I'm thinking of watching that end of
it.

The appropriation of recreation barracks for living quarters
worked a hardship on the Japanese language schools which had
no other available places in which to hold their classes. This
matter was eventually adjusted. The executive secretary of the
Japanese Board of Education expressed himself as follows:

"When the last contingent came here, housing didn't have
enough space to allot to the schools. My opinion is, if the
American government wants to move the people, they ought to have
the houses first., Once WRA decided one recreation hall was to
be used by one block. That rule was absolutely clear. The

people have a real need of a recreation place. Now WRA starts
to use the “ec. Halls for housing quarters,

1g. Hankey, Notes, Mar./}a44, p. B
21bid., May 14, 1944, p. 1.




R, Hankey, Notes, April (15), 1944, p. 28

varkley stated that"announcemnts for the Selective Service Examining Tesm
were to be wade on May 2 and 3," (Can not find sanything in Newe 1l Star),
Seventy-three boys were to sppear, This, I was later told was somewhat .

inaccurate since & number of the boys cnlled had already left the center,




"I said, 'Of course, having housing quarters is important,
but the people choose to use the rec halls for their education,
I requested a reasonable amount of space for the schools."l

Nakao gave an interesting account of an incident which
1llustrates the attitude of the settled population toward the
newcomers. Hostility toward Mr, Kawalf, an 01d Tulean and head
of Housing, 1s also expressed:

"Mr, Kawal, the head of Housing; he was No and changed to
Yes and wants to be tremsferred to another center. He called a
meeting before the people of Rohwer and Jerome came in. He
told them that when Manzanar had come in they had worked over-
time and didn't get pald for it. So he told his staff not to
work overtime this time.

"He was kicked right back on his face by the staff. They

said, 'We are all Japanese, Wg are going to help those guys
even 1f we do work overtime,'"

On May 18 the Newell Star published an additional announce-

ment on the necessity for consolidation of housing. The shortage
was acute, Twenty recreation halls were appropriated as temporary
quarters for the newcomers. Considering the lack of sufficient
employment in the center, the appropriation of these recreation
halls for living quarters inevitably worked a considerable hard-
ship on the population.

Response and HReaction to LUraft Notification

When on May 2 and 3 young men were called to appear

for the Army physical examinations (Check number and date),

the trouble which the administration had anticipated did not

materialize. appeared and twenty-seven "No-nos" did not
appear, These young men were questioned by a member of the F,B,I,
a short time thereafter. No resentment was expressed over the

manner of questioning. From the first, the majority of the

lip1d., aug. 10, 1944, p. 4.
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colonists seemed to think that calling the self-avowed disloyal
young men to the services was utterly ridiculous and so mani-
festly unjust that they would not be punished. However, several
No-No-informants stated that they were willing to go to jail
rather than go into the Army. The same sentiment was reported

second hand from many more. It was rumored in admiring tones

that before they were called up to see the F.B.1., representative,

that several young men had packed their sultcases and were all
ready to proceed to jail.

Yamaguchi, a kibei No-No, who did not receive any notification
gave an excellent expression of the attitude of those who did not
appear,

"This is the wa{ I think the Japanese feel. Anyway, it's
the way I feel., I1If get called for selective service and show
up for my physical examination, the Japanese think, 1f we are
loyal to Japan, we are pure Japanese, so we don't have to go.
If we go, that means we have some loyalty to the United States
of America. If we are going to refuse to go into the Army, we
are going to refuse from the beginning.

"I said,'I'm going to refuse to appear!' Mr. Robertson
said, 'That's not wise, George. Take the American way. The
physical examination is a federal law. XYou are going to involve
federal law!

"But if I'm going to be a Japanese I'm going to be pure
Japanese and not American at all.

"I didn't use to be like this. But now I just see this

camp from the Japanese Eoint of view only. As a Japanese, I
got to do it this way."

Nakao and Fujimoto nisei No-Nos expressed themselves as
follows. Note the exaggeration in the numbers of those who did
appear for their examinations;

Nakao:

"There were some Yes-Yes guys in this block. I hear they

have asked for repatriation, 1 also heard that only two guys
showed up for their physicals,"?2

libid., May 18, 1944, pp. 2-3.
31bid,, May 15, 1944, p. 3.




Fujimoto;

"I don't think there's going to be anyone here who'll be
taken, providing he's a repatriate. Of course the Yes-Yes boys
showed up. I think they sent out 82 notices and 17 boys, all
Yes-Yes showed up for thelr examinations. Yne No-No boy & owed
up too, but he knew his physical condition and knew he'd be
refused.

"All they did was come around and pull you in for a couple
of hours of routine questioning. Some boys had their sultcases
all packed. They asked, 'Where do we go from here?' They
(F.B.I,) said, 'You can go home now.'

"One of the kids is in our division. He got pulled in
and asked the same questions he was asked on his military
questionnaire. He sald, 'I'm a Japanese and a repatriate and
disloyal. He signed a statement then to back up what he sald
and they turned him loose. He thought sure he'd be sent to
Leupp.

"The only guys they are going to send to Leupp are the
guys in the stockade and I think they ought to go anyway.

One incidence of anger shown toward a young man who did
report for his physical examination was reported by a Cgucasian,
A young Japanese working for her suddenly asked for a three day
vacation. When she gave it to him without question he revealed
the reason. He could not endure the presence of a co-worker
who was one of the eleven (%) boys who appeared for his physical
e xamination.?

Although the young men concerned managed to create an
impression of stalwart indifference to thelr fate, there 1s no
reason to suppose that their relatives looked upon the matter

with equal stoicism, One young kibel girl, extremely concerned
over the possibility that her eighteen year old brother might

be sent to prison.poured out the followlng story of her brother's
experiences, Having reached military age, he had just been sent

his military questionnaire.

lip14., May 13, 1944, pp. 3-4.
21pid., May 14, 1944, p. 3.
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"My brother filled out his Military Registration, saying
that he was loyal to Japan and would not serve in the United
States Army. Unfortunately he did it with red crayon. So the
F.B.I. called him in, He showed my brother the red crayon and
my brother said, 'Looks bad, doesn't it.!

(This remark was not intended to be impudent, The boy
didn't know what else to say.)
"The F.B.I. man said that my brother could be sent to the
penetentiary for six years. My brother said he's been locked
up in camp two years and it's not so bad. The man said, 'Why
do you want to be repatriated?' My brother said, 'My parents
are old and I want to be with them,' The F,B,I. man said, ))
'Before you get back to Japan all of your relatives will be f
bombed; you'll have no place to go.' He sald my brother was TRt L)
a rare case and he would have to be taken to Sacramento.‘l('ng Rl o’
The twenty-seven boys who failed to appear were indicted
and tried late in July. The result of the trail will be discussed
in the proper chronological place.

Army Installs Uniform gate procedure

At this period the Army, which still maintained sentries
at the gate leading from the colony to the administrative
section, decided to install a uniform gate procedure, for those
evacuees regularly employed in the administrative section, office
workers, warehouse workers, hospital employees, domestics, etc.
It was decided that each Japanese who passed through the gate
dally must carry an identification tag, a blue card, and a
large red numbered button. They were required to wear the
button on the left lapel. The buttons were 2% inches in diameter
by actual measurements and a strikingly brilliant red in color.
Certain staff members remarked facitiously that they loééd
exactly like the emblem of the rising sun. The proper distri-
bution of these three separate items caused those members of

the Appointed Staff who worked with many colonists under them

libid., May 16, 1944, pp. 1, 2.




considerable inconvenience and there was a great deal of grumbling

while the process lasted., Dr. Opler remarked:

"It's really funny. The buttons are great blg red affairs
that look like the rising sun., The Army's gotten all messed
up on the button situation. They gave them out; we didn't,
They're trying to work out a gate procedure. I think they
should be issued by the head of each worker's office. I've
heard Captain Hartman saying, 'There are too many rules for the
Japanese. There's got to be one set of rules for all & them. "1

For several days after the institution of thls new regula-
tion, Japanese passing through the gates were shouted at, and
loudly scolded by the sentries if they did not wear their
buttons properly.

As far as most evacuees were concerned, the button matter
was accepted as merely another inconvenience and, for some,
another humiliation. Many said it was silly. After a few
strenuous days for the sentries, most people wore their buttons
properly. Fujimoto expressed a common attitude:

"This new business about getting off the colony is a pain
in the neck. First they give you a little plece of paper with
your name, age, etc., on it., Now they plcked these up and give
you another paper with a number on it. On Monday everybody
will have to go through a turnstile and they'll give you a
little button which matches the number on your little plece of
blue paper. They'll probably try to stop you and see if
your button matches the number.

"It's just downright silly. If a man 1s going to swipe

your button he'll swipe your paBer too. I could forge one of
these in five minutes, anyway."

Employment Cut

An employment regulation was established on (get date and dat a
from Newell Star of April or May) which limited to two the number
of persons allowed to work in each family. 4 considerable number

of complaints were heard: The following is typical:

libid., May 17, 1944, p. 1.
21bid., May 13, 1944, p. 3.




"Things are golng pretty good except for the reduction of
persons working in the family. In this block there were eight
or nine persons who had more than two persons working. In my
opinion the administration is making a big mistake by saying that
only two people in each family may work, because there are same
families who have as many as ten members and they ought to be
allowed to have more people working,

"In our block there is a family of seven with three people
working. 1 told the man, when he came to talk to me, that it
was not necessary for his daughter to quit. The administration
put a notice in the paper which said that if they don't quiE
by May 20, they are going to send out termination notices,"

Widespread Rumor of Coming of Exchange Ship

During May and June, a rumor that the coming of another
exchange ship might be expected sprang from some undetermined
source and sept the camp. Some persons were so sure they would
be selected for this as yet quite unannounced journey that they
made preliminary preparations such as attempting to purchase
trunks. The rumor persisted for a long period and did not die
down until late July. "I", a nisei, whose intent to go to
Japan had never been very strong, sald:

"There's a rumor that there's another exchange ship on the

way. I won't believe that till I hear it on the radio. If it
were true, it would be good for the morele of both sidess™®

(v Ot ot fro Jopon) 2 1]

OLD ISSUES

While they gave rise to no spectacular manifestations,
several resentments of long standing continued to smolder
during this period. Evacuees continued to be suspicious of the
inu, the old members of the Co-ordinating Committee, Civic
Organizations, or the Co-operative Enterprises, in short, any O1d
Tulean who held a position of prominence and had taken an active
part against the status quo. While no action was taken to

precipitate re-segregation, many informants told the writer,

livia., May 15, 1944, p. 2.
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that 1t was by no means a dead issue. "It will come up againg,"
A conslderable number of complaints agalinst certaln of the
living conditions continued to be made. Complaints about the
food, however, were almost never heard.
Inu

Individuals with status guo sympathies were annoyed on
several occasions by a system of connivance between the adminis-
tration and the Civic Organizations (still strongly 01d Tulean

in character) by which the appointment of ex-stockade internees

was ignored and men of less "dangerous" character were selected
i
for ecertain positions, 2eeth ae ’Qé—ﬂ"*’c %M""Q'M‘d'

When informants complained that a certain Mr, Kamiya, an
ex-stockade internee had been selected as block manager by the
residents of block 31, and that his appointment had been delayed
for three weeks, the writer questioned Mr, Akitsuki, who had
taken a position on the Civie Organizations after hié resigna-
tion. Akitsukil stated that Civic Organizations hesitated to
confirm Kamiya's appolntment, since he had been a prominent

Daihyo Sha Kali member and had, moreover, continued to inclte

trouble since his release from the stockade,l

Nakao, a status quo supporter complalned bitterly over this
matter, although he was not a resident of 31. He also denounced
Mr. Furukawa of the Civic Organization. Furukawa an 0ld Tulean
had taken a very prominent part in the anti-status quo movement,
Resentments similar to those expressed by Nakao, were probably

felt by many residents.
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"Mr, Wiyake was a ward chuirnan&L‘lmlynka is also an old
Tulean, generally unpopular for his supnosed pro-administration
view.) 7This man was here during the time of segresation and
had his wife and hls father leave for lilnidoka while he stayed
here himaelf. It may be he's gzoing out.

"So he told Civie he would like them to et a new block
manager for 31, 5o the block people had a meeting....and elected
a4 new manager, Le happened to be Mr., Kamiya, the ex-secretary
of the Lalhyo Sha Kail,

"S5o they took it up to Civic. it's been three weeks or
a month now and Civle hasn't 0K'd him, Nr, Miyake 1s acting
a8 block manager but he doesn't show his face 1n. the bloek ,
(because he domsmit=dered, v b M"-\{—V]J-‘J-c/s. I Adan DranSS
q -gb\} M-\_AQ ')
" "That 1san't Tight when the people want Mr, Kamiya as block
manager. L think they should have him as block manager,

"Furukawa of Civiec 1s good for nothing. 1 don't think he's
capable of sitting in that office. He sent out a notice through
Internal Securlty that all meetings which are to be held in the
blocks should be reported to Internal Security 24 hours before-
hand. Frevious to this, if the meetling was for more than 50
people we had to take out a fire permit and get an OK from the
CAS. Thils new reguletion came through Internal Security signed
by Furukawa. If he's thinking of the welfare of the people, he
wouldn't do that thing., So today in block managers' meeting we
shoved 1t right back & him, "l_l:/

Complainta over Sanitary Facilities and Sereens

Several informants stated that the poor condition of the
sanitary facllities was giving rise to a great many complaints.
As has been stressed before, the general condition of the latrines
in the o0l4 section of camp was extremely poor, Comparison with
the unusually fine facilities provided for the Manzaner group
caused additional resentment. It was decided to take the matter
up wlth the Spanish Consul.

Fulimoto gave a vivid description of certain sanitary
annoyance ss

"There are a lot of compleints over the sanitary facilities.
There are lots of complaints over the duck boards in the shower
room. 1lhey are very slippery and arve dan@erous, Also there is

no place to wash our urinals. In any of the latrines there is
no sucnh place. They're squawking like everything,
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"It's not a very pleasant thing to be brushing your teeth
in the morning and have somebody come along and wash out a
urinal beside you.

"There doesn't seem to be any such thing as a sanitation
committee here, At least we ought to have something for the
mess hall employees and things like that,"l

Said Nakao:

"In block managers' meeting today the main factors we are
requesting through the Spanish Consul is better sanitary condl-
tion., Have you heard about Manzanar?....

"We have no screens here, That is one more point we will
ask the Spanish Consul. Some of the 01ld Tuleans took our screens.
Some people who went out took their screens with them,"?

FATAL SHOOTING OF SHOICHI OKAMOTO

On Thursday the 24th of May this period of comparative quilet
was abruptly ended by the shooting of a Japanese by one of the
military police sentries. Shoichi Okamoto, employed in the
construction section drove from the project to get lumber which
was to be used in construction work and was shot when he returned
to the project through the old main entrance, The shooting was
witnessed by 15 Japanese and one member of the WRA appointed
personnel. 7The following account 1s taken from the Coroner's
Inquest.

Okamoto was driving his truck to get lumber piled across the
highway from the old main gate. He was accompanied by Shiohama,
a swamper., DBoth men carried all necessary identificatlion papers
and badges. On leaving the camp, the sentry could see Shiohama's
badge but not Okamoto's, because of the high sldedoor of the truck,
It 1s claimed that the sentry asked to see Okamoto's badge in a

disagreeable fashion. Okamoto showed his badge, was allowed to
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pass, and after a few minutes returned with his truck load of
lumber. On halting at the gate Okamoto stopped the truck and
"showed his pass up high." "Don't get fresh," said the sentry,
and ordered Okamoto off the truck, commanding Shiohama to drive.
Okamoto did not get off the truck immediately and Shiohama remons-
trated that he could not drive because he did not have a driver's
license, At the sentry's second command, Okamoto got off of the

truck, lighting his pipe. Witnesses stated that the soldier

began to curse and said, "You and your WRA friends are trying to

run this camp."

The sentry cocked his gun and went to the side of the truck
where Okamoto was standing. He thereupon ordered Okamoto to go
to the back of the truck which would have been outside of the
gate. Okamoto hesitated., (His hesitation may have been due to
fear of being “"shot while trying to escape, say Japanese. On the
other hand 1t may have been a reaction tc the commands of the
sentry.) The sentry shoved Okamoto with his rifle butt, Okamoto
raised his arm. The sentry stepped back a pace and from a distame
of three or four feet shot Okamoto through the abdomen, Most
witnesses agree that Okamoto raised his arm to ward off the blow,
The sentry cursed, swung his rifle in the general direction of
the witnesses, the heavy equipment crew standing near by amd
said, "You people get the hell out of here.,"™ The Japanese fled.

The sentry, named Goe, reputed by gossip to be a Chinese,

a Hindu or an American Indian, was placed under arrest and an
Investigation Board was appointed by Lt., Col. Austin,
Okamoto was hospitalized as soon as possible. According

to some eye-witnesses, t he sentry would not allow any of the

Japanese present to take the truck to call a doctor and a




Japanese ran to call an ambulance on foot,

An operation was performed by Dr. Hashiba, assisted by
the Chief Medical Officer, Dr. Sleath. Two blood transfusions
were administered. Okamoto died the next day Mmy 25, at 12:10 AM.
The results of the autopsy performed were described by the
doctors at the inquest:

"In the right chest area was this hole which was about one
centimeter in diameter and this was a flesh wound that connected
to the man's insides. There were some large rents that had been
torn through the man's liver and his stomach had been shattered
so that when 1t was first seen at the operation, it was not
possible to recognize the pleces as a stomach, The portion of
his liver on the left-hand side of the body as I stated before
had had his internal contents pushed out through the cavity so
it was sticking out and draped on the outside of his body, and
this particular material was covered fith sticky contents, a portion
of which we recognized as spaghetti,"

IMME DTATE EFFECT OF THE SHOOTING ON THE COLONISTS

The immediate reaction of the colonists was shock. This
was closely followed by an understandable reluctance to pass
through the sentry guarded gates on the part of those whose
work required that they do so., Many evacuees did not come to
work on Friday morning and Okamoto's fellow workers, the construc-
tion crew, held a meeting and decided not to come at all. Many
meetings were held in the colony. Hostility toward the soldiers
who, in the days immediately after the shooting continued to
come 1nto the colony and trade at the Co-op stores grew rapidly.
The sight of a soldier's uniform was an offense to the over-wrought

people.
ACTIVITY OF THE ADMINISTRATION

The night of May 24, no women teachers were allowed to enter

. the colony to hold their high school classese? This prohibition,
1 P. S.
®R. Hankey, Notes, May 24, 1944, p. 1.




however, was withdrawn the next day. The primary objective of
the administration appears to have been an effort to keep the
blame for the tragedy from falling on the WRA, An immedilate
announcement was prepared to be read in the mess halls at the
noon meal on Fralday, May 25,

The announcement issued in the name of Mr, Best follows:

"I regret very much that one of the center residents was
shot yesterday afternoon by a military police sentry and that
he died at the center hospital early this morning. Everything
was done by the medical staff at the hospital to save his life
and a great many people stood ready to give their blood. An
investigation 1s beling made by the military and proper disci-
Plinary action will follow. he WRA was in no way responsible
for the shooting, and I want you all to know that we regret
that it happened. No further statement can be made at this
time pending investigation by the Board, but as soon as the
facts are ava{lable they will be given to the residents in
full detail."

The same afternoon Mr, Best, Mr, Black, and Mr. Robertson
called on the bereaved family, Okamoto was survived by his
widowed mother, an older brother and two younger brothers and

two sisters. On the appearance of the Caucasians, the entire

family 1s sald to have broken down cOmpletely.2 Several other

members of the WRA personnel, in particular teachers who had
Okamoto's younger brothers or sisters in their classes also
called on the family. One Caucasian who had just lost his own
son called, taking a picture of his dead son with him. Okamoto's
mother kissed the plcture and dragged out her Shoichi's clothes
to show the visitor.®

Mr, Best also placed two automoblles at the disposal of

the family and a special car was sent to Heart Mountain to bring

lReport of the Investigation Committee on the Shoichi Okamoto
Incident, July 5, 1944, p. 8.

2R, Hankey, Notes, May 25, 1944, p. 4,
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relatives to the funeral. Employment compensation papers were

immediately filed.

The colonists' fear of passing the sentrlies at the gate
was also promptly dealt with by stationing both Caucasian and
Japanese members of the WRA police department at the gates,
Three days after the shooting the attitude of the sentries had
changed remarkably. They no longer shouted and bullied evacuees
passing through the gates because of misplaced badges, nor were
their rifles in evidence. On the afternoon of May 27, they
remained within the sentry box. This policy had an immediate
calming effect. After they were assured adequate protection,
the members of the construction crew met and on the afternoon
of May 25 and decided to return to work.

IMME DIATE ATTITULES OF LINFORMANTS

The reactions of informants seen immediately after the
news of Okamoto's death was announced varied from controlled
but deeply felt anger to almost hysterical rage. ©Some people
advised their friends and neighbors to keep cool until the
true facts were announced. After all, sald they, Okamoto might
have been at fault. A statement released by Secretary Ickes
on the morning of May 25 (%) which absolved Okamoto from blame,
created some satisfaction but was also regarded as proof that

the soldier would be considered guilty

K, an older nisei and World War veteran was so moved that
when discussing the occurrance with the writer he almost broke
down. On May 25, after the announcement had been made in the

mess halls he said:




"I heard quite a lot of criticism about it, but one thing
surprises me: the people are very calm., There is quite a lot
of resentment, but they are not excited. The people are saying,
'Let's be cool and know more about it before we take any action,
We must not make any rash judgment until we know the facts
completely.' The colony itself 1s taking 1t calmly.

"You might find hot heads may start to agltate. But we
must be falr, Mr, Best is not responsible,

"We had an announcement here at noon in English and
Japanese, 43 I say, they were very calm, The Japanese could
take it. They'll take it more than any other race.

"From the information that has been gathered, of course,
I don't know it 1oiks as if the soldier used too rach Judgment
in using his gun."

A young nisel girl contacted at the same time also sald
that the people were pretty calm but that they were talking
a great deal and had had a meeting that morning, "They do not
as yet know who was right, but think the soldier was too quick
with his gun,"2

Fujimoto's wife, a nisei sald:

"The people are angry about it. DPut we heard over the radio
that Secretary lIckes sald that it was the soldler's fault, that
he (the soldier) was going to hit him (Okamoto) on the head,
That made the people feel better.

"They were all angry around here but nobody knew what it
was all about, Some were saying, 'Well, maybe he got fresh,'
But now ever Secretary Ickes blames that M, P,"3

Another young nisei girl, a friend of the writer, was
almost in tears. She felt that the announcement made at the

mess hall sounded as i1f WRA were trying to avoid responsibility.

"It was Mr, Best's fault for bringing in the Military in
the first place. They're meeting in there (Civic Organization's
0ffice) now."

She also stated that she was convinced that even if the

soldler were convicted he would be freed soon after. She had
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heard that the soldier who did the shooting at Topaz was seen
stationed at Gila the next year. "Don't you think the WRA
ought to give the man's famlly some compensation," she added.
A young man told Mr., Robertson that the colony was going
to demand that Mr, Pest resign. "How can they do that?" asked
Robertson, "Mr. Best had nothing to do with this." Well,"

replied the young man, "If it weren't for Mr, Best, the military

wouldn't be in control and this wouldn't have appened,"l

Late in the afternoon of May 25 blr, Best called a brief
staff meeting. He stated that the incident was very regrettable
and that the staff was apt to be confronted with a situation
similar to that of November 4 when the newspapers had presented
dlstorted reports which took a long time to repress. "This
might be the spark which would start another incident." He
reassured the staff that the absence of evacuees from their
jobs during the day had not been a strike; the people were
waiting to be reassured that there was no danger in their coming
through the gates. The next day, members of the police force,
both Caucasian and Japanese were to be stationed at gate 3,
Patrol cars were to move among the workers on the farms and a
patrol car was assigned to follow the garbage detail. He asked
for the co-operation of the staff and assured them that they
would be adequately protected,

He announced also that a Board of Inquiry had been appointed
by the military and that WRA headquarters had requested that WRA
be represented on this board by a member of its personnel, Mr,

Black was to fill this position. He closed with the statement
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that 1t would be the policy of the administration to release all
information to the colony as soon as 1t was released by the
Military.

Mr, Markley, the reports officer, then read a statement
which warned the staff not to discuss the shooting, to refrain
from personal comment and to keep in mind that it "was the right
of 'these people' to express themselves as long as the expression
did not result in violence."l

On leaving the meeting the following remark was overheard,
coming from one of the male staff members, "Proper disciplinary
action will be taken, Huh! They're convieting the boy before
he's heard."? Mr. Best was also criticized by some staff
members "for telling them nothing,"

As for the meeting of the Board of Inquiry which took
place the evenlng of May 25, no information was ever released,

The evening of May 25 Dr. Opler expressed himself as very
pleased with the manner in which Best had so far handled the
difficult situation. Opler also stated that it was he who had
advised Best to give the Okamotos the two automobiles for their
use and to place WRA members of Internal Security at the gate,

The Coroner's Inquest also took place the evening of May 25,
When the decislon of the jury that the sentry had & ot Okamoto
"while in line of duty" was released in the newspapers the next
day, 1t caused a great deal of resentment. Many persons at
first considered it the final verdict, confusing it with the
Court Martial.

11bid., PpP. 5-6.
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On May 26, the Newell Star released an account of the shooting,

a statement by Mr, Best and a statement by Okamoto's elder brother.,
The account of the shooting stressed th#t Col. Austin had ordered
the sentry placed under arrest and appointed a Board of Investiga-
tion and that "these steps were being taken by the military who
are solely responsible for the investigation of the facts in the
case." Mr, Best' statement was a repetition of the announcement
he had had made in the mess halls with the additional information
that every effort had been made to save Okamoto's 1life. Okamoto's
brother asked for an unbiased investigation of the circumstances
surrounding the shooting and full justice meted, "although he
hoped that there would be no undue disturbance within the center
over the affair.,"

EVACUEE ATTITULES EXPRESSED MAY 27 and 28,

Compiling attitudes during this period was a difficult and
delicate task. Five contacts were attempted. One man, K., found
the subject too painful to discuss. However, at three homes,
family members and friends were present and it was possible to
note a considerable number of opinions and reactions.

Yamaguchl, a kibei was contacted in the presence of his
kibel wife and a kibei male friend. He stressed that WRA's
'attempt to avold responsibility' was having a very bad effect
on the people. "They think if WRA's not responsible that's bad.
Who is responsible?" He stated that he had a good deal of business
to transact in the Administrative Quarters but he was not going
to risk going through the gates. His wife remarked that the

sight of soldlers patrolling the camp with machine guns was

offensive., Neither Yamaguchi nor his wife anticipated that the




people would make any demonstration. "What can we do?" he said
bitterly, "We're only Japs. A4ll we can do is take it." He added
that he had heard that only a few days ago an i1ssel had been hit
on the head by a soldier when going out of gate 3. He had not
understood English and had not obeyed some order made by the
soldier.l
At a large family group visited on May 28, the shooting
was discussed at length. &veryone present agreed that the
soldiers should stay out of camp. Every time the people see
them they feel worse. Trouble might occur, the men agreed, but
"everything would depend on the verdict." "If the soldier was
acquitted," said a young kibei, "the best thing WRA could do
to avoid trouble would be to tear down the fence. Then trouble
might not start. It would be all right to have the military
at the main gate, but at the other gates - No," Those present

were indignant about some of the accounts which had appeared in

the newspapers. "Some papers smid that Okamoto had tried ju-jitsu

on the soldier." One young man present asked the writer if she
thought it possible that the soldier might be given a heavy
sentence and then sent some place else and released. When told
that this was a difficult question to answer he asked another,
"If the soldier were given a heavy sentence and sent away to
serve a light one, would the soldiers here at Tule Lake know
about that or would they think he had received the heavy
sentence?"?

Fujimoto, a niseil friend of long standing had no hesitation

about speaking of the shooting or of its effect upon the people.
1
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His reaction to the nervous strain was quite American. He made
several cynical humorous remarks at which all present laughed
immoderately.

"Best has called a center-wide holiday on the day of the
funeral. (A half-holiday was actually called.) They are also
going to have a wake at the high-school. That's a darn good
1dea. It would be more or less ironical to give the fellow a
military burial - being as he's a repatriate and a No-No.

"A lot of how this goes 1s going to depend on how WRA
handles it between now and the time the verdict is relessed.
If WRA can prove to the people that they are sincere in their
belief that the man who was shot was of no fault, and that they
did their best to get justice, then things might quiet down.
But i1f they exonerate the man completely, there's going to be
a blow-off, They'll have to build a double fence around the
administration section.

"The smartest thing WRA could do is to start impressing
the people now that the Military is more concerned than WRA.
After all, the man was a soldler. Under these conditions it
comes under the jurisdiction of the War Department,

"When the announcement was made in our mess everybody took
1t as a matter of course. Knowing the Military of Japan, they
know how it was. The local and civilian authorities have to
step into the background.

"The smartest thing to do would be to give the man twenty
years and send him to jail, Send him to jail anyway and pardon
him after three or four years,

"After all, he (Okamoto) was unarmed. If I were the sentry
and had two rifles and automatic pistols I wouldn't shoot him.
I'd bat him on the head with the rifle,

On Mr, Best's visit to the Okamoto family and his decision
to grant permission for a public funeral, Fujimoto said:

"He's learned a lot. He had to. He's more sensible with
the people now. The Japanese people are appreciative of that,
especlally when it's an order given by the Project Director,
It will mean more than any 500 or 600 words he can say.

"On the other hand, there are people who talk like this:
'Well, we can't expect justice from the Army here inasmuch as
we are disloyal Japs and their enemies. If that's the case md
the man 1s exonerated, all we can do is learn his name and
remember it until after the war and see which side wins.' They
want to bring it up at the peace conference,




"Another faction says; 'You won't hear anymore about this
until after the war,' By that time they hope the people will
have forgotten about 1t. PFersonally, 1 think if they drag it
out and hope people will forget, I think there will be a lot less
ruckus if they just come right out with it, even if he is
exonerated.

"You look at it this way. This is what affects people now.
If that can happen and the man 1s exonerated, that will give the
M, P,'s the impression that the lives of the Japs in here are not
worth a hell of a lot. That's just asking for more shooting.
Heck, 1 might walk through that gate next morning and the guy
will take a shot at me. I'm dead. That's not going to help
me any.

"I feel this way. He's gone. 1 can't bring him back to
life.

"I heard that Austin had sent a special car to Heart Mountain
to bring his relatives in for the funeral. That's the least
they could do.

"It all depends on what the verdict is.

"The newspaper stories try to give the impression that the
man misinterpreted the sentry's orders.

"There's one thing they're goin$ to have t o look out for.

What will Japan do about this? They re liable to figure that
ten Americans are worth one Jap. Pretty soon each side will be
seeing who can kill them (prisoners or internees) off faster,"
Fujimoto concluded with the remark that the 1id might blow
off the camp in two hours., If that happened the safest place for
Caucasians would be inside the colony, at a Japanese friend's
home .1
Another nisei, "l", about 28 years old, was far more excited
than Fujimoto. "M" was at this time employed on Dr, Opler's
staff and had been busily gathering eye-witness accounts of the
shooting. ¥From these accounts he had prepared a report which
he entitled, "Murder at Tule Lake," He also stressed the peoples!
"hostility to the uniform." "Everytime they see a soldier driving

through camp in their armored cars it makes their blood boil,"
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He was convinced that if the soldier were not punished promptly
and justly, the results "would be terrible." According to data
"M" had gathered, the sentry, Goe, had been rude to evacuees pas-
sing through the gate for some time. The Japanese had commented
on the difference between his attitude and that of the sentry who
preceded him and had come to the conclusion that Goe "had it in
for the Japs." On one occasion (it was said) he had shouted at
an 1ssel because the man had his badge on the wrong side of his
Jacket. The issel, not understanding, had attempted to pass,
whereupon Goe had hit him on the back of the head with the butt
of his pistol. "M" had prepared an account of the shooting from
eye-witness reports which he allowed the writer to read. The
gist of it is presented here from memory. The chief significance
of this account 1is that it 1s probably the version which was
spread through camp and believed by the majority of the colonists,
It will be noted that it agrees substantially with the statement
given to the Spanish Consul by the Investigating Committee.

"When Okamoto approached the gate, driving the truck, the
sentry waved at him. Okamoto interpreted this as a signal to
stop. 7The soldier then approached him, cursed at him and ordered
him to get out of the truck. Okamoto got out of the truck
reluctantly. The soldier then ordered him to walk outside the
fence. Okamoto did so hesitantly and the soldier made as if
to strike him with the butt of his rifle. Okamoto raised his
arms and the soldier shot him in the stomach at the range of
three feet. Okamoto screamed and fell to the ground writhing
and clutching his stomach. The soldier reloaded his rifle and
lighted a cigarette. The other Japanese present looked on
amazed. Then the soldler said, "Get the hell out of here or
I'11 shoot you too." 7The men ran to the hospital to get the
ambulance. While they were gone another truck (a lumber truck)
drew up to the gate. Seeing that the man on the ground was a
Japanese one of the men in this truck attempted to get out.

The s0 dier shouted at him, "Get back! Get the hell out of
here.
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Comment

. From the above statements it may be implied that a considerable

proportion of the colonists were of the opinion that serious
trouble might arise almost instam tly, particularly 1f the soldier
were exonerated. "It all depends on the verdict," was a general
conclusion, Some criticized WRA's obvious attempt to evade all
responsibility, while "1", always practical, praised this
administrative move as good policy. In spite of the fact that
personnel from the Internal Security had been stationed at the
gates, several informants stated that they were golng to keep
away from gates, since, as they expressed it, "If WRA is not
responsible for us, what's to keep the sentries from shooting us
down too?" An understandable hostility to the soldiers, aggra-
vated by their continued appearance inside the fence, was expressed
by most people. Moreover, the suspicion that the sentry would

be given a sentence which he would not be forced to serve,
appeared to be fairly common. If "i"'s account of attitudes is
reliable, as the writer believes 1t to be, some of the colonlsts
were already predicting two days after Okamotb's death and that
the soldier would be acquitted that the Army would not release
this informatlion until such a time as feeling had died down in
camp.,

ATTITULES OF THE CAUCASIAN PERSONNEL

Many of the members of the appointed personnel were almost
as angry and disturbed than the Japanese. The details of the
shooting, particularly the fact that Oyxamoto had been shot down
at a range of three fqet were repeated with exclamations of
horror and disgust. From Mr, Best down, the majority of the

staff members appeared to be deeply moved and sincerely regretful.




Only a few remarked that Okamoto may have been impudent to the
sentry. Many of the teachers who had to pass through the gate
on their way to school expressed a hostility to the soldiers
very simlilar to that of the evacuees, The only genuinely
inconsiderate remark overheard was made by a not too well
balanced staff member employed in the hospital. She stated.

"When Okamoto was brought in the Japanese standing around

were just praying for him to die and don't kid yourself,” When

another person present expressed sympathy for the soldiers, the
same informent said: "Don't give them any sympathy, They had
all made up their minds that if this fellow is found guilty,
they'd all start shooting up a few Japs, Then they (the
military authorities) couldn't do anything to the whole company, "™
Later the writer herself heard a soldier make the same threat,
When a week passed with no sign of uprising from the colony
the majority of the staff relaxed considerably and after the
funeral little tension was apparent,

DIVISIONAL RESPONSIBLE MEN ATTEMPT TO FORM WORKERS' ORGANIZATION

A few days after the shooting a very interesting attempt
to reenter the political scene was made by the supposedly dis-
banded Divisional fesponsible 4en, This group had led in
breaking the status quo in Lecember and January. Ex-Co-ordinating
Committee members took the leading part in this activity, in
fact, K. Okamoto, an ex-member, was chairman of the meeting,
The group conceived the idea of forming a workers' organization
“for the protection and security of the workers." The proposed

body was purported to be entirely unpolitical in character,
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The divisional workers themselves were not consulted,

kir, Kondo on behalf of the Construction crew and Mr, Nishioka,
head of the #otor Fool reported that they had consulted Mr. Best
and requested a guarantee of safety to all evacuees passing
through the gates. Mr. Best had replied that a "guarantee"
might not be possible but he would do his best.

Thereupon, Mr. Yamatani "in view of the present incident and
in view of the 1lack of a central representative body" pointed
out "the pressing need for a workers' organization for the pro-
tectlon and security of the workers." Some persons suggested that
the organization of this body be withheld until the divisional
workers had been consulted, however, it was decided that this was
not necessary, 4 temporary committee was appointed to lay the
matter before Mr, Best,

When thls committee interviewed Mr., Best he chose to regard
their project as political in nature and refused them permission
to form such a body 1f they expected 1t to be recognized by the
administration. Toward informal workers' representative bodies
he had no objectlion. From the minutes of this interview it is
apparent that Yr, Best realiged the unpopularity of the members
of the Co-ordinating Committee and the Divisional Responsible
lien, stating that their attempt to form even a temporary body
might divide the colony again. Considering the temper of the
people at this time, his refusal to grant recognition was wise,
The minutes state that " as a whole, the recommendations (of the

Divisional Hesponsible Men) were accepted and put into practice,

such as the stationing of the Colonial Police at the entrance

of the Gate." This suggestion, it should be noted, did not




originate with the Divisional Responsible Men, but was put
into practice the day after the shooting on the recommendation
of the Construction Crew Workers with the support of several
members of the administration,

Considering the dislike and suspicion with which Yamatani,
Akitsuki, Okamoto and Takahashl were regarded by most colonists
at this time, it 1s difficult to understand how they dared
risk placing themselves 1in any position of public prominence,
It is possible, of course, that they were not conscious of the
extent of thelir unpopularity, or 1f they were, that they
considered the opinions of the ordinary colonists of little con-
sequence, This group and the prominent officers of the Co-
operative #nterprises have been described by Caucasians and
Japanese who know them well as feeling themselves superior
to the "rest of the dumb Japs." Ferhaps they looked upon their
unsavory reputations as the inevitable result of their prominence
in the colony.

In any case, the group was injured and angry at Mr, best's
refusal. Miss Tanaka described their indignations

"Because of this shooting they wanted to make some sort
of a labor organization to protect the workers. Mr, Best
sald he was really distressed over the incident but politics
should not be involved in the funeral; it should be a purely

religious matter, purely a matter of paying tribute to the
deceased.

"Mr, Shimada, Mr. Yamatani, and Mr. Akitsuki say, *'No
matter how hard we work and how much we try to do for the
people we are always called inu. 3So Ie might as well leave
the place alone and let it burn up.'"

In reference to the attitude of the people she quoted a
saying in Japanese which is similar to the English expression,

"They bite the hand that feeds them,"
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THE OKAMOTO FUNERAL

. The arrangements for Shoichi Okamoto's funerel were under-

taken by the ward chairmen. A funeral committee of block
managers and representatives of the Construction and Motor
Pool department handled the details. The entire center 1s said
to have contributed to the funeral expenses, a certain part of
which, as is usual, were borne by WRA. A wake service was held
in the high school on May 30, the evening preceding the funeral
and some 1,200 people are sald to have attended.

The day of the funeral, May 31, was unpleasantly cold a d
a drizzling rain fell intermittently. The funeral was held on
the outdoor stage. The report made to the Spanish Consul
states that 6,000 persons attended, but Mr. Robertson estimated
the number as nearer 4,000, The administration wished some
photographs of the occasion but was dubious as to how thls
might be received by the people. Mr. Hucyke was given the
task because he was thought to be well known in the colony.
The photographs were taken without incident. &r, Best and
other high ranking members of the appointed personnel attended,
The description of the funeral and the text of Mr. Best's speech

as reported in the Newell Star followsg

RESIIENTS PAY SOLEMN TRIBUTE AT FINAL RITES FOR OKAMOTO
OQut door funeral Attended by 9000

Nine thousand people stood bareheaded for hours in a chill
wind and a drizzle of rain Wednesday afternoon to pay lasting
tribute to the memory of Shoichi James Okamoto, martyred victim
of a shooting which Secretary of Interior Harold L. Ickes termed
"completely unwarranted and without provecation on the part of
the victim,"

Thousands came from all parts of the center, in spite of
the cold discomfort, to stand with bowed heads in tribute to
the deceased. At the same time they were expressing a protest




against the hate and intolerance engendered by this war. Men
and women, young and old, mothers with babies in t heir arms,
thus offered sympathy to the bereaved family. Every person
present was moved by sorrow.

Mr. Asamitsu Okutake was the chairman for the service.
Mr. Iwao Namekawa gave a graphic testimonial on the history of
the late Shoichi VUkamoto, an account of the making a true
Japanese who had had the best of 1ife still before him. Words
of condolence on behalf of the center residents was given by
Mr, Kazumi Kawaoka,

In deep silence broken by the wind, the Rev. Senzo Sasaki
conducted the final rites assisted by all other Buddhist rever-
ends in the center. Incense offerings were made by various
organizations, departments, and ward representatives.

ME SSAGE

Project Director Hay R. Best extended a memorial address
in behalf of the administration. He said, "I wish to express
regret that thls unhappy event has occurred. I have already
assured the young man's family on behalf of the administration
that all in our power will be done to assist them in their
hour of grief.

"The community isto be commended for the help that it
has given the bereaved family and for the public expression
of sympathy. %The spirit shown during the past few days gives
me confidence that wehave learned to live under the difficult
and complex conditions that preveil in this center,"

REACTIONS TO MR, BEST'S SPEECH AND THE FUNERAL

Undoubtedly Mr. Best's speech which he delivered with
sincere and honest feeling was a gesture of extreme signifi-
cance in dissipating resentment toward the WRA, The fact that
the project director appeared in person, making a speech which
happily fit into the colonists's concept of good taste, impressed
some persons deeply. DLess emotional individuals praised it as
a first rate political gesture. Enemles of Mr, Best or persons
who bore him a grudge of long standing were not impressed but
they were not able to affect the general good effect materially.

Immediately after the speech, Best received a number of letters

of appreciation. The dignified funeral, the presence of high

ranking members of the appointed personnel and the respect




shown the deceased by granting the half holiday were also
appreciated.

The day after the funeral two nisel girls gave a glowing
account of the funeral. "At least 5,000 people were there;
ur, Best made a speech and the flowers were wonderful. . .It
went off very well." The second girl remarked, "He was lucky
to have such a nice funeral," and then stopped in embarrassment.

The first girl then added, "It 1s going to be bad though if

the soldler 1s acquitted. The people are just waiting to hear,"1

K, was deeply impressed:

"I felt happy that he came and made thattalk. Not to do
it would have made the people suspicious. I felt very good
about it. Undoubtedly he created a better feeling by coming
than by staying away. :

"The Japanese people thought sure he would send Mr. Black
or lMir, Robertson and that lMr, Best wouldn't come. They were
surprised. He has regained some confidence. Coming in and
speaking showed courage.

"I've heard that the boy (Okamoto) was a very good boy.
Many times as he was going in and out of the gate he noticed
the boys with him making sarcastic remarks. He expressed his
opinion in this ways; he told the boys not to be sarcastic.
The soldiers were on duty and were performing the duty as they
were told. 'If you continue to antagonize the soldiers,' he
sald, 'something may happen.' Then he had to get it himself.

"Sometimes I wonder if there's a God in the world.

"lt's the reflection on the United States Army. The Military
Folice should be the model for the Army. Here they are acting,
how should I say, rather rudely."?2

Yamaguchi, a kibei, was not impressed by Mr. Best's gesture.
He implied that many people, especially the issei, understood
“why Mr., Best had made such a fine speech."

“He's good now, but think what happened lasttime (farm

accident). He's learned. . .Now he has confidence in their
behaving peacefully.
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S53.

"L was glad the light (public address system) didn't go
off. Last time he spoke it did go off and he felt very bad,

At the same interview Yamaguchl asked if it were true that
Robertson was going to be project director. He also remarked,
"If there 1s trouble, ! won't mind. I'11 get a kick out of watch-
ing it,"L

Fujimoto, while not particularly moved by Mr. Best's gesture,
gave lMr., Best credit for the manner in which he had conducted
himself':

"I will have to give the man credit. He really has done
his best. I didn't go to the funeral myself. But he attended
the funeral and called the half holiday. Keading the speech,
it didn't seem much different than the notice he sent to the
me s halls. I thought it was a darn good 1dea as far as he
was concerned. Lf that was the full text of the speech I think
he's pretty smart. He said just enough, no more, He didn't
lay it on too thick.

"He's more popular now than he has been sim e the begin-
ning of the camp.

"Regardless of why he did it, the fact stands that he did
do it. That's what you have to give the man credit for. It
couldn't all have been prompted through selfishness, I don't
believe a man who wrote that speech could be entirely selfish,
He could have stayed at home and let one of his stooges come
down,"

At this time Fujimoto no longer believed that the shooting
would cause trouble in camp. Yet he still stressed the import-
ance of the verdict. "All the goon squad members are resting
peacefully in the stockade. If the verdict is bad, things
may change." He also remarked upon the change of attitude of the
sentriea at the gate:

"We've got some nice boys at the gate now. There used to

be some guys who'd make you step out, drive the truck thrgugh
the gate and then get back in. They're pretty good now."
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Okamoto, a conservative individual admired the speech but
was not moved by 1t:

"ae (Mr. Pest) was thinking of the future of the center,
particularly of the aafety and security., I sald to myself,
'He's quite a diplomat.,' bLe made a very intelligent speech.
If he had made the wrong kind of speech, it would have meant
more trouble., He chose his words very carefully.

Speaking of this period at a later date Okamoto said:

"There was unrest, particularly among the young boys.
They were quite excited. But there was nothing they could
do, If they start trouble, something will happen. I know
lots of people had good experience in the last incident. They
don't want any more trouble. If they start trouble, the same
thing will happen."l

Mr, Yamashita an ex-Santa Fe internece and a leader of the
underground pressure group was most cynical about the adminis-
tration's police during the funeral. Note his i1llogical state-
ments on the funeral expenses:

"As you know, the shooting took place in such a manner
that 1t was liable to cause almost any kind of trouble with
grave consequence, bBut with the experience of the past, resi-
dents of thlis center kept themselves very qulet, knowing them-
selves how serious a matter it was. The administration has
done a very marvelous way of taking the matter very cautiously,
trying to calm the feelings of the residents.

"The question of sincereness and sympathy to the family,
in my opinion, on the part of the Administration is doubtful.
But they have worked in a very very wise way to prevent some
incident which might occur. Leaving the funeral to be a camp
funeral was done very excellently and that I appreciate and
admire. The administration was wise in persuading the resi-
dents to perform the public funeral. That was one of the
reasons which should be considered important in calming down
the feelings of the people. Mr. Best was very wise in making
the funeral so big. 1t made people feel very good, with the
expense of the residents.

"If this was a public funeral, which the administration
sincerely recognized it, it should have paid part of the
funeral expense from the government or the administration.

1
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"The committee who represented the funeral was more or
less pulled in as tools of Mr, Best, If I had been a man on
that responsible committee to perform the funeral I would
certainly have discussed the matter with Mr, Best, so at least
a certaln part of the funeral would have been paid by the
administration. This time they pald exactly the same amount
as for any other funeral, $173.00,

"Enough for the coffin," interjected his wife.l

The following letter written by Okamoto on June 5 is an
Interesting, 1f involved expression of public sentiment., In
complicated phrases, Okamoto expresses the confusion of the more
thoughtful colonists over general WRA policy and particularly
on the important point of which body, WRA or the Army, was
responsible for their protection. In keeping with all other
informants at this time, he remarks that "the colony is eagerly
walting with great expectation for the official announcement
of the truth."

Generally speaking, the attitude and sentiment of the
colony toward shooting incident is very quiet and does not
make sharp and strong criticism in comparison to the last
year's incident, It seems to give me a hint that on account
of the past experlenced troublesome period, the colonists are
acting much more sensibly and observing the present existing
condition with the eyes of great interest.

As far as I can observe the present existing public senti-
ment, I (think) there will be no public disturbance or see the
slightest tendency of trouble and pressure group. However, it
appears to me that the colonists have received considerable
shock and a tendency of great anger toward thoughtless cruel
barbaric in-human being attitude of the military police.

Okamoto went on to say that at the last regular ward meeting
a Block Manager had "brought up the sincere hope" that the WRA
would hereafter take proper measures to ensure the safety of the
evacuees, Okamoto also stated that since the November incident
the authority of the center had been complicated and confused:

"To the best of my knowledge we seem to have two authorities,
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WRA and the Army." Since Mr, Best had stated that the WRA was

not responsible, "the colony naturally thinks the Army will

take the fullest measurement for responsibility of shooting.,"

"The most significant part which is miscomprehended and
contradict our minds 1s whether the Army has authority or not
within the barbed wire fence . . . From time to time I hear the
people saying that the Army has no authority within the barbed
wire fence whatever, and WRA has the fullest power to control the
entire center. The people feel the Army 1s supposed not to stay
in the boundary of WRA. This sounds very reasonable but we do
not know what degree 1s the truth, . .

"The colony sincerely hope that either one of them must take
responsibility, otherwlse we will have no authority to conform
(to) and to protect our safety and security.

"With the most prudent attitude and the greatest interest,
the colony is observing the progress of the present affairs
and those false communication and broadcasting over radio
deeply degrade the public morale and extremely irritate the
public sentiment and anger. As the most typical characteristic
of the Orient races, especially, Japanese has a great tendency
toward excitement, irritation and judge things sentimentally.
In consideration of these facts 1 sincerely hope that the
authority take thorough steps for the investigation and the
Justice will be done for a better solution. Also I have confi-
dence that the colony 1s eagerly walting with great expectation
for the official announcement of the truth," .

Agitation after the Funeral

Immediately after the funeral a certain Mr, 2ira, who was
at this time working behind the scene in the Resegregation Group
made a rash threat in the presence of a group of his followers,
stating that 1f the sentry who shot Okamoto were acquitted, some
Caucasian would pay for this with his life., The threat leaked
out and caused some concern among the residents. The administra-
tion knew nothing of this particular attempt to use the Okamoto
shooting as an incentive to make trouble and, so far as the
writer knows, never heard of the threat., When the soldier was
exonerated by the Court Martial, more than a month after the
funeral, and the threat was not carried out, Mr. Kira is reputed

to have lost face.




Administrative Attitudes

Once the ordeal of the funeral speech was over and the
complimentary and grateful 16tters from some evacuees were
received, Mr, Best lost much of the anxiety under which he had
suffered since the shooting. He decided to allow the Okamoto
family to read the report of the Coroner's lnquest so that they
might see for themselves the testimony which had resulted in the
verdict that the soldier had shot "in 1ine of duty." Mr. Best
remarked that the chlef Japanese witness had become badly
confused at the trial and had given conflicting and confused
testimony. Mr. Best invited the family to his office to read
the report and stated that he would let them study it all day
if they cared to. He had been much impressed by the character
and intelligence of the Okamoto family and felt that 1t was
largely due to their attitude and the voluntary statement m de
by Okamoto's brother that agitation had been held to a minimum.
He realized, however, that a Court Martial verdict of acquittal
might cause serious trouble in camp.

Many of the members of the appointed staff were leaning
to the opinion that the soldier would be acquitted. This
attitude was strengthened by a young woman employee in the
Statistics Section who spread the story that she had sent the
Court Martial acquittal verdict to Washington. Since the
Court Martial had not yet been held, this was obviously false.
The young woman may have seen a report on the Board of Inquiry
meeting of May 25, However, her story carried welight with

many staff members and caused much concern over what the

Japanese might do when this "news" reached them,X
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What effect allowing the family to read the report of the
Coroner's Inquest had is not known. However, either from this
report or from other Japanese witnesses, a rumor spread in the
camp and almost resulted in the beating of Mr, Shiohama, whose
te stimony had been unfavorable to Okamoto. This rumor which
appeared in mid-June held that Shiohama had testified that
Okamoto had attempted to strike the soldier. A group of young
men met and discussed beating up the witness. These self
appointed vigilantes, however, were not themselves convinced
of the truth of the rumor. The wife of one young man sald,
"They cannot believe that a Japanese would do such a thing, "t
The young witness was not beaten,

Early in June an intoxicated evacuee, sald to be a quiet
good-natured fellow when sober, attacked a soldier with a meat
cleaver. The soldier was generally reputed to be a decent
fellow and the act was qulte unprovoked. The soldier was not
injured seriously and the attacker was given a jall sentence.
No informant expressed any resentment over this inclident
although Fujimoto feared that it might stimulate a camp-wlde
search for sake stills which might annoy the people.2 (The
evacuee was rumored to have become intoxicated on "boot-leg
sake.") No such search was made at this time.

COMMITTEE ORGANIZED ON REQUEST OF SPANISH EMBASSY

karly in June the Spanish Embassy requested the administra-
tion that a committee of Tule Lake representative residents
prepare a complete report on the Okamoto snooting which report,

it was understood, would be used by the Spanish Consul in his
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report to the Japanese government., The Consul's request was

announced at a meeting by Mr, Black. The colonists' reactions
were mixed. Most persons were indifferent, believing that
nothing much would come of it. However, members of the pressure
group were definitely hostile to the suggestion, suspecting
that this proposed committee might be used by the administration
as evidence that a "representative" committee did exist at

Tule Lake, an eventuality which the pressure group, still
stalwartly supporting the interned Negotiating Committee,

wished to avoid at all costs. The fact that the proposal was
announced by a member of the administration added fuel to

this suspicion,

A meeting was held June 12 and committee members elected
from each ward., Some block meetings were held previous to this
date. The reaction to one was observed. While calling at
Fujimoto's nome, hls slster came in and asked him if he were
going to the meeting. "No,"™ he replied, "I don't go to any of
those meetings."l

On June 14, Yamaguchi who was not a member of the pressure
group, related that Mr, Black had suggested the formation of a
group of issei to comply with the request of the Spanish Consul,
He implied that since the suggestion had come from the adminis-
tration the people were looking askance at the whole thing. He
sald there was a rumor that the ex-members of the Co-ordinating
Committee were taking a prominent part in the formation of the
committee, and that people feared 1t might turn out to be an

extension of the Co-ordinating Committee.® On June 19,
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Mrs., Matsuda, an active agitator voiced the same sentiment,
She sald that the people were very angry "at the administration's

move to put a selected group on the Committee to see the Spanish

Consul." They blamed Mr. Black for this.l Lr. Opler corroborated

thls suspiclon and clarified the part of the ex=-Coordinating
Committee members:

"The committee to meet the Spanish Consul has been set up
from the wards. The trouble is they have set up a sub-committee
and very promiuent on the list are the names, Yamatani, Akltsuki,
and Okamoto. I don't 1like those guys on it. It looks as if
Akitsukl i1s sticking out his neck again.

"The Spanish Consul wants to meet with a spokesman group.
ligybe ne's a Little afraid for his own safety,"2

Better informed and less pre judiced Japanese, like b ok
took a more reasonable view of the matter and stated that the

committee had been formed of responsible and trustworthy men,

"a" gave an amusing deseription of how the ex-Coordinating

Committee member's attempt to regain prominence had been received
at the meetings

"Yamatani, Akitsuki, and Okamoto were told right to their
faces that the people didn't want them. . .Mr., Yamatani proposed
before a certain body that if they would consent to sllow him
to negotiate with the Spanish Consul, he would do it gladly.

He was told right then, . .

"They (ex-Coordinating Committee members) are conscious of
what 1s going on, but they are looking for personal glory. They
may want to tell the Japanese governmeut that they represented
Tule Lake and met the Spanish Consul to right the wrongs they
have already committed. . .

“The negotiations are to be conducted by men who are
alrea elected. They are prominent people whom the people
trust.

Mrs. "F", au intelligent older nisei, also expressed her

confidence in the group which was selected. They had been
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elected and 1t was all right. She added, however, that the
men elected had taken the job unwillingly and that some of
them wanted to resign., "It is all because of the men in the
stockade., The camp will never be at peace until that is
settled."!

A few days later Yamaguchl stated that nobody was taking the
Spanish Consul Committee very seriously. In fact, said he,
nobody trusted the Spanish Consul anymore, even though he was
supposed to look after the Japanese. "Everybody thinks the
Okamoto case is a washout., ©Sil.ce everybody is saying that

the chlef Japanese witness said that Okamoto tried to attack

the soldier, there 1s no chance for a verdict of guilty. After

all, if Okamoto did attack the sentry, the sentry had a right
to shoot him,"2

Okamoto, a couservative block manager elther did not know
of the attempt of some of the ex-Coordinating Committee members
to get a prominent place on the Spanish Consul Commlittee or he
chose not to mention it. He also expressed the opinion that
the establishment of the Investigation Committee would have
a calming effect on the people.

"I attended this meeting. #4s you know, the Japanese
government has a great interest in this case. They have
reque sted the Spaulish Consul to make a detalled report and
he has asked for a committee to make the detailed report to
him, So, since the members of the Co-ordinating Committee had
resigned, there were no representatives for the people. So,
since nobody had responsibility, they suggested that each
block send a spokesman who was a Japanese national.

"Then, June 4th (?) we had an election. Some blocks
elected a man and some blocks just send an observer to the
meeting., All were Japanese nationals, mostly issei,
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"Then they elected officers, president, ete. This com-
mittee 1s just temporary and they decided to disband after
the completion of the investigation. Some of the people
;Eggested at the meeting that they might remain as permanent
apanese spokesmen for the people, but I believe in the
present situation, they hesitate to elect permanent delegates,

"They named eight men for the committee., <There were no
Co-ordinating Committee members on that, This committee was
recognized officially by the approval of Mr, best.

"Everybody 1is afrald of the future and they didn't want
it to be permanent,”

"It seems to me that very few people know about the
detalls of how this was done (Okamoto shooting). They can't
get the true facts. Besides they're afraid of the stockade.,

It's no use to fight against the administration. Everybody
Just keeps theilr mouth shut and quiet. . . .

"And besides that, the Investigating Committee has been
established and the peoples also believe WRA and the Army are
taking care of it. The committee just started their investi-
gation last week."

A very 1interesting account of the sentiment of the under-
ground resegregation group on this matter was given by Yamashita,
an ex-Santa Fe internee from Poston and a leader of the pressure
group, 7The opinions and suspicions he voiced were shared by the
pressure group, which was determined to have no body in Tule Lake
which could even vaguely replace the interned Negotiating Com-
mittee - the "real representatives." It is possible that some
of the colonists shared a part of Yamashita's views even though
they may not have been active members of the pressure group.
Yamaguchi's remarks give some evidence of this.2

The fact that the Spanish Consul on his previous visits
to Tule Lake had given the supporters of the Negotiating
Committee no assistance on the stockade 1ssue had caused this

group and many of the residents to lose counfidence in him, <he

1
ibid., June 20, 1944, pp. 1l-2.

2366 PP. .




fact that a visit of the Spanish Consul had never been followed
by any noticeable improvemeut in the lot of the inhabitants of
Tule Lake, had probably caused many non-status quo people to
regard his efforts with indifference. However, many people felt
that out of courtesy to their only contact with the Japanese
government, a committee should be formed,

Yamashita gave a detalled description of the suspicion and
dislike with which the activities of the ex-Co-ordinating Com-

mittee were regarded by the supporters of the stockade internees

and stressed the fundamental distrust felt toward the suggestion

because it was made by Mr. Black, a member of the administration,
For the voiced suspicion that the administration wished to trick
the Japanese into forming a “representative body" out of this
Investigating Committee, there appears to be no evidence whatever,
The pique, felt over the fact that Captain Martin, DeAmat's
subordinate, was sent to Tule Lake instead of LeAmat himself,
1s interesting.

"People on the whole are very indifferent.

"I do feel this way, and after all t ne Japanese people are
not foolish and dumb, aud I don't want to consider the Japanese
race as dumb, They have to accept within a certain extent being
in the enclosure, but they can't be fooled all the time, ., .

"The Consul de Amat was visiting nere the latter part of
1943. . ., (He) was requested strongly by the people. . . to
liquidate the stockade. . . but the Consul was not successful
in meeti.g the wlishes of the people on that particular point,

"The Co-ordinating Committee, which was, as you know, more
or less appointed by the administration in whom the public had
no trust whatever, dogmatically requested a visit of the Consul
again, Consul Amat -- we suppose that he knew that the Co-
ordinating Committee wasn't a real representative b ody, because
he kuew they weren't real representatives elected by the people
of the camp, ever since the stockade isolated the-peepie-eof-tne
eampy-e- place was opened by the administration to confine what




is known as trouble makers of the camp for "said to be" severance
purposes, #nd therefore, we supposed that Consul Amat knew that
we dou't have real representatives here in this camp.

"He replied to the letter sent by the Co-ordinating Com-
mittee in April, 'I am not sure which one are the real repre-
sentatives in the camp. Therefore please, if necessary, elect
representatives whereby I, the Consul, can interview them,"

"On May, 22, when Mr., Okamoto was shot, at that time the
people of the camp wholeheartedly hoped for the immediate visit
of the Consul, On the following day of that happening, the
rumor 1in the camp was that the shooting of Mr. Okamoto, even
though he was second generation caused immediate attention of the
Japanese government which requested the Spanish Embassy to make
a thorough investigation of the facts. We don't know where we
got that information but that was the rumor all over camp."l

Mr, Yamashita went on to explain that Mr, Black had called
a special meeting of the Block Managers, "with the assistance of

the Co-ordinating Committee'l

and asked the Block Managers to
assist iIn the choosing of representatives to prepare the report
for the Spanish Consul, But "the people were not told that this
was to be a written report and that the Consul did not intend to
come immediately."™ Yamashita therefore was convinced that Mr,
Black was plotting to use these representatives "to for a
representative body for the Japanese which is needed so badly

in this camp from the polnt of view of the Administration. They
wished to form it for all time,"

There was, apparently, no grounds at all for YXamashita's
suspicion of Plack's motives, However, it reflects the extreme
anti-administrative attitude of this leader of the Resegregation
Group,

Synthesis of Okamoto Shooting:

The first reaction of the colony to the shooting of Okamoto

was a confusion of shock, anger, sorrow, and fear of passing

lthis may have been pure rumor or may have been based on a short-
wave broadcast,

2upssistance” by the Co-ordinating Committee is very doubtful.




through the sentry guarded gates and meeting a like fate., For
several weeks after the occurrance even the sight of an Army
uniform was a source of irritation, This reaction was quickly
dealt witn by the administration which stationed Caucasian and
Japanese members of the WRA police force at the gates, prevailed
upon Colonel #ustin to place selected sentries at the gate and
to forbid soldiers to enter the camp as they previously had been
accustomed to do, 4About a month after the shooting, hostility
toward the soldiers was no longer voiced. On the whole the
reaction of the colonists was one of quiet and dignity. Fart

of this constraint was no doubt due to respect for the dead.
Another factor was the consciousness of the futility of protest
by an unarmed people against the Army.

The administration realized the gravity of the occurrance
instantly and embarked on a policy which was entirely successful
in avoiding additional trouble for themselves or for the colony.
The facts were announced honestly and promptly; reasonable
persons were given no cause to lay any guilt on WRA; kindness,
consideration and courtesy were shown the bereaved family,
which in no instance, passed the bounds of good taste; the
evacuees' fear of passing through the gates was given immediate
consideration; Mr, Best gave permission to hold a public funeral,
called a nalf-holiday on the day, and attended himself, deliver-
ing an unmistakably sincere speech which impressed many of the
colonists deeply; the soldiers were forbidden to enter the

colony proper after the funeral,

The “ivisional Hesponsible Men, who formally disbanded

at the end of April 1944 made an attempt to re-instate themselves




in a position of prominence by forming an organization to protect
the workers of the project., Three ex-members of the Co-ordinating
Committee placed thils proposition before Mr. Best but were refused
recognition., Although the proposed body disavowed all political
ambition, Mr, bLest believed the formation of this body would
be interpreted as a political move.

The attempt of the pressure groups to lay blame on Mr, Best
and the unorganized criticisms voiced by Mr, Best's enemies
had 1ittle effect on the general populace; most pecple were
of the opinion that Mr. Best had all that could be expected
of him under the circumstances. Some criticism was heard over
WRA's attempt to evade responsibility, but this never reached
serious proportions, For several weeks after the shooting,
many informants feared that trouble might be precipitated, but
no factor strong enough to bring about any demonstration made
its appéarance. During this period the most frequent remark
made by the Japanese was: "It all depends on the verdict,"

Over a month passed before the Court Martial was held, and as

the weeks passed, this statement was made more and more rarely.

Probaply cyulcal opluions, such as those which were volunteered
as early as two days after the shooting: that the soldier

would be released or that he would be given a sentence which

he would not be obliged to serve, slowly gained the ascendanecy.
The hopelessness of gaining redress from or taking revenge upon
the Army was apparent to all. Much 1s expressed in the following
terse statement made by a Japanese, "What can we do? WE're only
Japs?" When the verdict of acquittal was released early in

July, over a month after the shooting, it caused little surprise




aud there were ..o repercussions, It was, however, overshadowed
by the excitement aroused by the murder of Mr, Hitomi,

The request of the Spanisn Embassy that an investigation
be made by a representative group of Japanese citizens and that
a report be prepared made very little impression on the colony,
The fact that the announcement was made through the administration
and that certaln ex-members of the Co-ordinating Committee
attempted unsuccessfully to attain prominent positions on the
investigation committee aroused great suspicion on the part of
the chief pressure group. 7The greater proportion of the colonists,
however, appear to have regarded the coumittee and its report as
harmle ss but futile. When the report was given to the Consul
in mid=-July it aroused scarcely any interest,

MINOR EVENTS AND ATTITUIES OF JUNE, 1944

During June the unrest, discoutent, and hatred which
culminated 1. the murder of Yaozo Hitomi, the general manager
of the Co-operative Lnterprises developed in an interwoven
sequence of events wnich merits separate treatment. To inter-
rupt the narration of this development witn socially significant
but unrelated detalls, would mar the picture and confuse the
reader. These unrelated events and attitudes will therefore
be presented first.

Chalrmen Attewpt to By-Pass Mr, Huycke

Early in June the ward chairmen made an attempt to escape
from the weed of dealing with Mr. Huycke who, as head of Community
Activities, nad long been a source of aggravation to most of the
colonists who had contact witn him., Mr, Huyéke's unpopularity,

which appears to have begun when he was in charge of housing at




the time when the transferees entered camp, remained with him
when he became head of the Community Activities Section, Most
informants disliked him; many despised him. He was, moreover,
almost universally disliked by the Appointed Personnel., With
his immediate superior, Mr, Black, he appeared to be on excel-
lent terms, MWMr, Huycke accomplished very little in providing
recreation for the evacuees, This, however, does not entirely
account for his unpopularity. H4is habit of promising much and
doing little, and the fact that he unsuccessfully attempted to

pose as an admirer of the Japanese, telling them that he was a

"Jap-lover" aud not a "Jap-hater" were countributary causes.

The general scorn and disgust with which ne was regarded by
most of the Japanese who came in contact with him, spread to
many who did not know him persocnally.

In this particular instance, the ward chairmen, noting
that little attention was paid to requests or complaints which
they made to Mr, Huycke, decided that he was deliberately witn-
holding them from Mr., Pest. They thereupon called on Mr. Best
and requested that the Community Activities section be taken over
by Mr. bPest personally., Mr, Best refused them, although he is
reported to have admitted that dr, Huycke was slow in channeling
things to nim but "he would do his best." 4n account by liiss
Iwohara, who developed a stroug dislike to lMr, Huycke when
he was on the Advisory Council and she was Secretary to the
Co-ordinating Committee follows:

"The ward chairmen tried to get 4r, Huyecke out. They
found out that most of the peoples' complaints which were
supposed to be channeled to Mr, Best were just going to Mr,
Huycke who bottlenecked them. So the ward chairmen thought

that Community Organizations ought to be put under direct
supervision of the Project Virector.




"So the ward chalrmen got together one morning and called
on Mr, Huycke., Mr. Huycke sald lir, Provinse had suggested the
same thing, but that ¥r, Best had been against the 1dea because
he thought it would be disadvantageous,

"So the group of ward chalrme. got together the next day
and got an interview with Mr, Best. When they made this state-
ment to Mr, Best, Mr, Best saild that the plan of putting Com-
munity Organizations under the Project lirector had been devised
by uimself, but when he sent the plan to Washington, Washington
did not approve. So now we know that Mr, Huycke was lying.

Mr, best sald there seemed to be a clash of personalities and
he admitted that Mr, Huycke was slow in channeling things to
him but that he would do his best,"l

Several months later Mr, Huycke's Japanese Comnunity Activities
staff rose in revolt and almost left uim 1. a body. At this time
they addressed an appeal to the Wasnington office. Mr, Huycke
chose to regard this phenomenon as the result of pressure put
on his staff by pro-Japanese groups,

Stockade Levelopments

G Attitudes favoring the release of the men still kept in the

stockade contlnued to be expressed by persons who were not
attached to the pressure groups working actively for their
release. On June 15, a young nisei girl, stated that the Daihyo
Sha Kai had had a great deal of support in November and added
that the people were pecowing more and more angry over the
contilued imprisonment and innocent people in the stockade. She
was sure that if Kal and Kuratoml were released they would not
attempt to make trouble. She was so moved when speaking of the
imprisoned meu that her eyes filled with tears.2 On June 20,
the conservative Mr, Okamoto, who several months before had not
advocated release, made the following statement,

"Unless they release the men from the stockade I don't
think there is any hope to orgaulze a Central Committee., . .
When asked how strong a part giri played in the peoples!'

IR, Hankey, Notes, June 15, 1944, pp. 5, 6,
21b1d., Do ot -




sentiment toward the internees, Okamoto said;

"Suppose those former Negotiating Committee in the stockade.
Suppose right now we elect another representative from each
block and organize a Central Committee. In that case we double-
cross them (the men in the stockade). We admit that they had
criminal intention. That means giri, That's why, for the
benefit of them we cannot do it right now, unless the WRA
releases them men, That is the Japanese point of view right
now, I wish the WRA would release those men."l

An interesting account of food trouble in the stockade was
given by Fujimoto who was in an excellent position to get infor-
mation since he was employed in a responsible position in the
Me ss Operations:

"I got Hayward to crack down on the stockade boys the other
day. They thought they were goilng to run Mess Operations. They
wanted us to give them their ration daily instead of weekly.
I'11 be damned if I'll weigh out 37 pounds of rice every day
and 43 pounds of sugar,

"Sugimoto, one of the public agitators number 1, sent a
letter to the Spanish Consul, telling him the boys in the
stockade were getting only 14¢ a day for food. I told Hayward
to tell Best that the stockade 1s getting food on the same scale
as the colony. 4f the Spanish Consul thinks that's not food
enough, have him come in and look at the books.

"Confidentially, 1've been giving those boys a break. I
knew thelir only pleasure was eating so I've even advanced them
sugar on their next week's ration. bBut nd anymore. Since
Sugimoto started to make trouble, I've not advanced, and they've

been without sugar since ‘hursday and won't get any till
Tuesday."2 '

The above account is noteworthy since the hunger strike
which the detainees initiated some months later was rumored to
have had 1ts source in a disagreement between the internees and
the administration on food.

GROWTH OF HOSTILITY BuTWEEN POSTON GROUP AND MR. TSUDA

During April and May, the leadership of the pressure roup
g

which had sponsored the petition in March had fallen more and more

libid., June 20, 1944, p. 2.
2ibid., June 4, 1944, p. 6.




into the hands of a clique from Poston led by Mr. Yamashita, whose
bitterly anti-administrative statements have already been quoted
on several occasions., Mr, Kira, the man who is reputed to have
made the threat against Caucasians after the,Okamoto shooting
was also tied in with this group, although he kept himself well
in the background. The administration had no knowledge of the
ascendency of the Poston clique nor did they know that Yamashita
was one of the top leaders.

One of the chief intentions of this group during this time,
besides furthering propaganda for resegregation, was to join

forces with the Negotiating Committee of the Lalhyo Sha Kai

and together, form an organization which would control the
camp. To further this ambition, they continued to agitate for
the release of the detainees,

Sometime in May, however, they came into conflict with
another faction also devoting itself to the release of the
detalnees, This faction was headed by Mr., Tsuda, the ex-warden
who took a prominent part in negotiating with the Army in the
early part of November 1943,1 Tsuda, being a very good friend
of Kuratomi's was in a position of some advantage. However,
he refused to sign the Resegregation Group's petition and by so

doing incurred their lmmediate susplcion and later hostility.

Yamashita made an attempt to bring Tsuda within the fold of

the Resegregation Group, but Tsuda refused. Tsuda stated:

"In May, Mpr, Yamashita asked me why L1 didn't join the
Resegregation Group. #He said, 'We have 9000 people here now
and great power. LIf you should belong to a power like that you
can do yourself very nice."

1See pp. .
2R, Hankey, Notes, March 6, 1945, p. 6.




Tsuda, however, refused to join stating that since he had a
sansel (third generation) son, he could not see himself holding
to the rigorous repatriation views of the Hesegregation Group.

Another cause of the hostility was the fact that both the
Poston Group and Tsuda were working for release of the detainees
and the Poston Group at least, desired the political prestige
thet they imagined this feat would give them with the residents,
That Mr, Tsuda worked hard and worked independently did not
please them, They thereupon began a gossip campaign against
Mr. Tsuda, stressing that he was an inu and a collaborator
with the administration. Mr, Tsuda's reputation did not assist
him, for he was sald to have run professional gambling joints
before evacuatlon and in Tule Lake. The propaganda gained
considerable acceptance in camp, and Tsuda and the men working
with him were denounced as dogs by many persons who had no
affiliation with the Resegregation Group. The first indication
of this 1lntrigue was brought to the attention of the writer by
a statement made by lrs. Matsuda, an ardent Hesegregationist:

"Now the boys in the stockade are getting mad at Mr., Tsuda.
When Mr, Tsuda came out of the stockade, they thought he would
be able to do something for them. But he hasn't been able to do
a thing., So they are getting made at him now.,"l

According to Tsuda, he was the first person working for re-
lease to advocate hiring a lawyer for the detainees:

"After I got out of the stockade (in April) I went to see
Mr, Best many times, trying to liquidate the stockade. When the
1dea of hiring a lawyer came up, I went to see Mr, Kira., He said
it was no use, He sald, you know how big the United States Govern-
ment 1s, If they want to put 100 boys in the stockade, they will
do it anyway. The stockade 1s just an insignificant thing., It
would be foolish to bring in a lawyer.

"I went to see Mr, Yamashita and he said the same thing,

libid., June 19, 1944, p. 1.
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"As the sole responsible person for bringing in a lawyer,
I didn't want to cause any further trouble,"l

Shortly before this, the relatives of the interned men had
formed an organization to cooperate in the cause of release,

This ﬁody was called the Saiban-iin and appears to have worked

both with Mr., Tsuda and with the Poston Group. When Mr, Tsuda
did not take steps to hire a lawyer, a man from Heart Mountain,
named Okamoto took over the issue and contacted the American
Civil Liberties Union. The Poston Group cooperated actively.

In this matter Mrs. Matsuda again accused Tsuda of having played
the part of an inu, stating that he had attempted to persuade

the boys in the stockade to withdraw their appeal to the Am rican
Civil Liberties Union in order to protect Mr, Best. This matter

wlll be discussed in greater detaill later.

|" Rumors

Two interesting rumors were current during June, The rumor
that an announcement of an exchange ship would be made continued
and grew strouger. It was also widely rumored that the adminis-
tration was planning to grant the colonists certsin privileges,
The latter notion may have been stimulated by the consideration
shown by the administration at the time of the Okamoto shooting,
Nothing came of either rumor,

On June 3, two nisei girls asked if there were any truth
in the rumor that an exchange ship was coming soon. In the
weeks that followed the question was asked at almost every
contact the writer had with Japanese. On June 23, Yamaguchi
sald:

livid,, March 6, 1945, p. 7.




"I think the next transport might come the end of this
year or the beginning of the next., That would make the people
feel better.
His wife added:
"I bet the camp is going to be in an uproar if it does come."
Yamaguchi concludeds

"It has to come, otherwise the morale is going down. The
Japanese government must realize that,"l

The stimulating factors for this rumor are unknown. One
staff member stated that the Examiner had printed a statement
that Japau was making out another repatriation 1list asking for
college graduates and persons who owned property in Japan,

On June 8, "K" reported that rumors were flourishing that
the fence was going to be taken down some time in July and that
colonists would be allowed to make excursions to the nearby
hills. He had heard that the janitors would be allowed to go
out first; "their uames are even being put down." He stated
that even if only the janitors were allowed to go, the people
would feel better, "because then they would feel that someday
maybe they could go too." "K" had considerable falth in these
rumors, and stated that they were already beginning to make the
people feel better.2

The writer checked these rumors with lir, Robertson and was
told that the audministration was not even remotely entertaining
any such ldeas.

Attitudes on Mr, Best

On June 23 Yamaguchi informed the writer that he had been

told by a friend that a group of young men had written to

1ibid., June 23, 1944, p. 2.
2ibid., June 8, 1944, p. 2.
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Mr, Ickes, telling him that he should fire Best. Yamaguchi's
informant had stated that he nimself had signed this letter,
Whether this communication was sponsored by a pressure group is
not known. &rarly in June smother young man, like Yamaguchi, an
ex-Leupp internee remarked that he had heard that Mr, Robertson
had been demoted because he did not get on with Mr, Best and
because he got on too well with the Japanese,l Mrs., "F" an
older nisel woman stated that she was sure that matters could
never go well in camp as long as Mr, Best remalned in his posi-
tion of Project Lirector. The people didn't trust him, Moreover,
they knew that he was afraid of them. "If only Mr. Robertson
could be the Project Director,"? Although more informants can-
not be quoted it was quite apparent that by the end of June Mr,
Best had almost completely lost the respect he had gained with
some people because of his considerate action at the time of the
Okamoto funeral.

Status and the fressure Groups

Little 1s known of the activities of the pressure groups
during the month of June., 'he relatives of the internees went
forward with their preparations to appeal to the Civil Liberties
Union for assistance in the stockade matter. Undoubtedly, the
Poston group also did all it could to increase the unpopularity
of Mr. Best, whose presence as Proj ect Director was regarded as
one of thelr chief obstacles. There were, however, few overt
signe that this group was active. The following remark was made
on status by Yamashita the ex-Santa Fe internee who was an under-

ground leader of the Poston groups

libid., June 8, 1944, p. 1.
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"If the administration treated us as loyal Japanese, loyal
to Japan, they would have no trouble at all, but they still
think we are loyal to 4merica., They should treat us like
prisoners of war in a certain sense. They snould treat us
according to the Geneva convention and International Law., Our
mind is clear now; we are disloyal.

On the abortive attempt of the Divisional Kesponsible Men
to establish an organization, Mr, Yamashita said:

"If any little representative organization or any little
gathering of peoplé now having close approach to lr, Best, they
are not hastening making the camp better, but they are prolong-
ing the trouble. They are petit politicans.”

RE PERCUSSIONS OF THh ALLIED SUCCESSES IN EUROFE

One extremely interesting change of attitude toward the
war was manifested by Fujimoto one of the writer's oldest
acquaintances and frankest informants. A No-No and a repatriate
had expressed bitter resentment over the treatment he, as a
Japane se-American had received in this country since the out-
break of the war., On one,occasion in September, 1943, before
he was segregated from Gila, he had told the Writer that he
hoped that Japan would win the war Jjust so the Caucasians would
realize they weren't as good as they thought they were. After
nine months residence in Tule Lake, he had changed his mind.
The manner in which he led up to his declaration was very
interesting., At the beginning of the conversation he complained
over the sorry state of the attitude of the inhabitants of

Tule Lake:

"I'm getting sick of the attitude of the people. They are
cutting each other's throats."l

He then launched into a denunciation of the Co-op which will
be quoted in the discussion of the Hitomil Killing. He continued:

14 remarkably prophetic statement, considering it was made
seven days before Hitomi's murder.




"When I came here I expected to find quite a different
atmosphere, When the people realized they were here for the
same reason, L expected that they would be willing to help a
guy when he needed it., Instead, now if you've got five dollars
they'll think of how they can get it away from you,

"Some of the smartest people I know are getting disgusted.
These are real intelligent people. They came here and expected
to find a cooperative atmosphere and they're pretty well dis-
gusted. Their remarks add up to something like this: 'It's
not a case now of whether I want to go back to the old country.
It's a case of whether 1 can stay here long enough to go back
to the old country and still retain my self-respect.

"The trouble is they expect you to act llke a damn radical
and go out and kill every hakujin on the other side of the fence
and when you don't act like that you are an inu,

After this introduction, Fujimoto stated dramatically,
"Po tell you the truth, I'm considering relocation.”

"The only reason I1'd consider relocation 1s that I've got
a pretty good thing coming up. As you should know by this time,
the majority of nisei came in here because they didn't want to
go into the Army. That's one of the main reasons why the nisel
are here, 98% of them, myself included. I couldn't see fit %o

pack a gun for something I didn't see my way clear to. If they
had treated us differently, I would have volunteered. Now,
seeing as how they're deferring people over 26, I think I might
take a chance.

"You see, if the war lasts three more years, I1'll be 33,
Then I get deported to Japan., It'll take me ten years to get
on my feet, It seems to me Germany is golng to pull a flopperoo.
I wouldn't want to be here when that happens. I don't care if
Japan has 17 kinds of Yamato Damashi, she isn't going to be able
to buck fighting three big nations,

"Believe it or not, a fellow told me the other day that
Japan was going to have a decislve victory and that the war would
be over in seven days! A girl told me the other day, 'You're
so thoroughly Americanized, I don't bellieve you belong here.'

"My coming here was in itself a defense mechanism, 1%
was another retaliatory action to get even with the way I1'd
been treated previously. On the other hand, I feel that in
retaliating I not only hurt the government, but eventually,
I1'11 hurt myself more,"

"The only people Japan actually wants are those she can
use immediately after the war, diplomats and persons with
Engineering Degrees, I've been telling people, if Japan should
lose the war, where there's a very good chance of her doing
right now, and if we were to relocate and were placed on the




same standard of 1living as the negro in this country, we'd still
be able to have a better standard of 1living than the poor people
in Japan. ©Desides, when the Japanese went to the south, they
were never treated as the negroes wers,"

Fujimoto assured the writer that the camp 1life and the
unfavorable war news appeared to be affecting some of the older
peoples' minds:

"A lot of the 0ld men are getting goofier and goofier,
They stand around in the latrines and mutter to themselves. I
think they're losing their minds."

When the writer asked Fujimoto what the possible effect of
the news of a Japanese victory in the Pacific might have on the
camp's population, he said:

"I'd hate to see it happen. In spite of the fact that the
Internal Security is on the lookout for short wave broadcasts,
if the local broadcasts were to confirm the victory and the
shortwave broadcasts were to exaggerate it, I don't think there'd
be no holding the pressure gang in here,"

"when asked what the effect of a pronounced Allied victory
might be, he guessed:;

"I've often wondered. Lf there were a very decisive victory,
I think there'd be re-kelding-tke a great breakdown in morale.
bk specially among certain people who have decided that Japan
couldn't lose. With the breakdown in morale there would come a
time when some of them would try in some way to avenge the
defeat of Japan., _When that happens, they'd better start build-
ing more fences,"l

The next day a sincere repatriate was asked how the course

of the war was affecting the colonists, He said:

"Those persons who will change their minds now are no good
to either country. These boys who fluctuate are no good. You'll
find there are many of that kind. You know, only half of the
people here are registered to go to Japan. 7They just want to
walt and see how it turns out, If Japan wins they want to go to
Japan and if the United States wins, they want to stay here. It's
disgraceful. It makes me ashamed of the Japanese race, especially
the issel .

1R. Hankey, Notes, June 25, 1944, pp. 1-3.




"But if America didn't evacuate the second generation,
then probably most of them would have sworn to support the
United States, and would have fought in this war. Now they're
willing to go out whether they're despised or not,

"I've talked to many of them, They say, 'I'm going back
to Japan.' Then I ask, 'Then why aren't you studying?'

"They're not studying. Theg're just fooling around and
gambling and having a good time.

This informant remarked at this interview that he had just
had a long argument with an issel friend over some of Japan's
policies. He had felt that some of Japan's policies were not
above criticism,

"If I go to Japan and speak as I've spoken today 1'11 Dbe
thrown in jail. There is no question of that. I think the
country should be improved in several ways. But if I weren't
in love with Japan I wouldn't criticize here. Yet, 1f I d4id

talk %ike I talked today, (in Japan) I should be thrown in
jail.'

He added that this was the one thing that caused him concern
over his decision to expatriate, Since childhood, he had been
honest and outspoken and he feared that he will be too inclined

to speak frankly when he arrives in Japan.l

Yamaguchi, a kibei, when discussing the war situation, said:

"I think more people will ask for relocation, especially
the nisel. But the majority of the residents won't give up,
I think there are a lot of people, even if we lose Kyushu,
Manila and Singapore -- we won't give up. The bombings don't
mean nothing, bPut there will be a lot of people who'll say,
'"Well, the Allies are winning; let's go out,'"2

b ADMINISTRATIVE ATTITULES

A meeting of the Community Management Division held on
June 20, betrayed some significant administrative attitudes.
The meeting opened with the announcement that Mr, Huycke

head of Community Activities, had been raised to a P4 rating,

libid., June 26, 1944, pp. 1-2.
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It will be remembered that at the beginning of June, Mr, Huycke
had become so0o unpopular with the evacuees that the ward chairman
had attempted unsuccessfully to get from under his jurisdiction.

Mr. Bagley, the Head of Welfare gave a short speech in
which he stated that his section had a case load of 2,200 to
3,000 cases per month, One possible means of reducing this
load was being contemplated: to take employment from single
persons or couples and give it to the heads of families of four,.
"It costs less to have a single person on welfare than a family
of four." In other centers, said Mr, Bagley, families in pos-
sesslon of a cash sum of %500 were still allowed to become
Welfare cases, it being assumed that they might employ this
case surplus for relocation. This surplus was not allowed at
Tule Lake. Moreover, Tule Lake was the only center which
suffered from an employment shortage. Mr, Bagley stated, in
addition, that his department was busily employed on the
problem of stimulating relocation. They had initiated a study
of 50 families of Tule Lake residents who according to the
records had not applied for repatraition, However, when they
began on the study they found that 43 of these S50 families had
actually applied. None of those interviewed were open to any
persuasion,

When lMr, Bagley had finished his speech kr, Black opened
the floor for questions, A teacher inquired if there were any

positions which were not filled. Mr, Black sald there were

many Opénings for clerical workers and that it was very diffi-

cult to get teachers for the nursery school although many of the

evacuee girls were qualified for the work, Iif any applicant
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‘ ¢ for work was offered a job and refused it, he was not eligible

. for welfare. The great majority of the unemployed persons were
in the unskilled labor groups.

The guestions now turned to the subject of the stockade.

Many of the staff members, particularly the teachers, were
extremely curious over the policy of the administration in
regard to the internees, over the treatment they received and
over the process of internment and release, A meﬁber of the
police force asked Mr, Bagley what could be done for four
internees who had broken thelr glasses. Bagley explailned a

complicated process for procuring glasses but was interrupted

by a staf?ﬁember who suggested that in consideration of the

limited view in the stockade, the internees had seen just

about all they could see and had no need for glasses. This remark
caused some laughter, Mr, Black then announced that a number

of the allens in the stockade were soon to be removed to

Santa Fe, from where, in course of time, they might go to

Crystal City to join their families, This, stated Black, would

be very nice because at Crystal City they might lead a really

normal family life. (When this was carrled out it was




